
FITZSIMONS REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

  April 24, 2024 
3:30 PM immediately following the Executive Session 

FRA Boardroom located at 12635 E Montview Blvd  Aurora, CO 80045 
Remote attendees: join Zoom meeting 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82824759368?pwd=Y0NlMGlLRGQwK1Y0NHNDSUZyRDViQT09 
Meeting ID: 828 2475 9368    Passcode: 046358 

 
MEETING AGENDA 

                                             
1. Call to Order / Chair Mike Coffman 

 
2. Consent Agenda / Chair Mike Coffman 

A. Minutes of January 24, 2024 
 Action item:  Approve consent agenda items 

 
3. Items Removed from Consent Agenda for Discussion (if any) / Chair Mike Coffman 

  Action item:  Approve items removed from Consent Agenda (if any)  
 

4. 2023 Audit Results* / Thomas Smith & Sam Hellwege (CLA) 
 
5. 2024 Q1 Financial Results* / Julie Ehler 

 
6. Bylaw Revision Discussion*  / Dustin Zvonek 

 
7. Leasing Updates / April Giles 

 
8. Metro District Loan Status / Steve VanNurden 

 
9. Design Review Board Membership Update* / Lyle Artz 

 
10. Tryba Master Plan Update & Requested Funding for Consultants* / Tryba 

Action item: Approve additional funding request for Tryba’s consultants 
 

11. Other Business / Chair Mike Coffman 
 
12. Adjournment / Chair Mike Coffman 

 
*Materials related to these items are included in the board packet with this agenda.  
 

~The Agenda and the minutes of the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority Board meetings are posted at the 
City of Aurora and on the Authority’s website.~  



 

 

THE FITZSIMONS REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MEETING MINUTES 

January 24, 2024 

Board of Directors in Attendance  

• Mike Coffman, Mayor, City of Aurora 
• Don Elliman, Chancellor, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus  
• Todd Saliman, President, University of Colorado 
• Michael Komppa, President, Corum Real Estate Group 
• James C.T. Linfield, Partner, Cooley LLP  
• David Perez, Independent Board Member  
• Dustin Zvonek, Councilman, City of Aurora 
• Bob Reddy, Vice President of Global Marketing, Medtronic Enabling Technologies  
• Ray Gonzales, President, Metro Denver EDC and EVP, Denver Metro Chamber of  

Commerce  
• Tom Gronow, President, and CEO of UCHealth University of Colorado Hospital 

 
Board of Directors Absent 

 Jena Hausmann, president, and chief executive officer (CEO) of Children's Colorado 
 
Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority Staff in Attendance: 

• Steve VanNurden, FRA President & CEO 
• Thomas Smith, VP of Finance and Operations 
• April Giles, VP of Business Development 
• Lyle Artz, Site Manager 

 

Consent Agenda 

A motion was made and seconded to approve the October 2023, Board Meeting minutes.  No items 
were removed from Consent Agenda. The motion was passed unanimously.  

Introduction and Appointment of FRA Board Members 

Acknowledge the reappointment of Jena Hausmann by Children’s Hospital Colorado. Board 
acknowledged and the motion passed unanimously. 

 



 

Election of FRA Board Officers 

Elect Officers:  

 Mike Coffman, Chair  
 Don Elliman, Vice Chair  
 Jim Linfield, Secretary/Treasurer 

 
The motion electing the officers was passed unanimously. 

 

Committee Appointments 

Executive Committee: Mike Coffman, Don Elliman, Jim Linfield, David Perez, Mike Kompa.   

The motion was passed unanimously. 

Finance Committee: Jim Linfield, Terri Carrothers, Terri Velasquez, Christine Quintana.   

The motion was made to reappoint the existing committee. The motion was passed unanimously. 

 

Designation of Public Place at Which Notices Will Be Posted (as required by Subsection 24-6-4)* 
/ Steve VanNurden 

This is posted on our Website, City Website and on our front door. The motion was passed 
unanimously.  

 

Conflict of Interest Form 

Every year each board member needs to complete the conflict of interest form and submit to the 
FRA team.   

 

2023 Preliminary Financial Statement Review  

A preliminary copy of the Financial Statements for the fourth quarter of 2023 were included in the 
board packet. The annual financial audit will commence in February and the final audited financial 
statements will be released to the Board and the Finance Committee in April 2024.   

Thomas summarized the financial statements noting the challenges with Commerce Bank back in 
quarter one triggering the reduction in our cash position year over year from 2022 to 2023 with 
cash declining by $5.8M. The Metro District made an interest payment in December of 2023 of 
$878,000.00.    

Total current assets went from $25.0M to $35.7M with the reduction in cash being offset by 
Management’s expectation of the full repayment of the Metro District’s loan balance. This 
expectation led the Authority to move the full loan balance to current notes receivable. The mark 
to market value of the interest rate swap decreased $518K from $1.2 million to $654K driven by 



the paydown in the Commerce loan of $6M and with the swap’s maturity dates drawing closer.  
The Finance Committee met previously and reviewed the financial statements currently being 
presented. 

Current liabilities significantly increased year over year reflecting the recognition of the full loan 
balance for Bioscience 5 as a current liability. The intention of Management is to fully retire this 
loan with the proceeds from the Metro District’s loan payoff. Total liabilities decreased $5.4M year 
over year once again primarily the result of the Commerce loan paydown.  

Revenues derived from tenants increased in 2023 from $8M to $8.8M from the prior year, a 9.6% 
increase. Parking revenues for the same period increased from $900K to $1.3M, a 44.7% increase. 
Operating costs increased 4.3% year over year. The net effect of higher revenues and slightly 
higher operating costs was an increase in operating income of $828K, a 66% increase.  

Two cash flow statements are being presented in the financial board packet, one being compliant 
with GASB standards (required after last year’s adoption of the GASB 87 Leases accounting 
standard) and the traditional version which shows cash flows consistent with the versions provided 
to the board in the past.   

Thomas opened the floor for discussions but no questions or discussion took place.  

 

Atara Cooling System Proposal (Bioscience 1) / April Giles  

Atara’s lab on the third floor needs to be converted to a new air handling system.  An evaluation 
was completed to either replace the unit or duct it into a unit that is already on the roof that has a 
lot of capacity on it.  We are moving towards the 2nd option.  Long term, this will reduce the 
maintenance costs for our team.  We have gone out to bid.  Contracts are in play and are moving 
through the design process now.  We need formal approval to progress the work.  Work is to not 
exceed $375,000 and bids are coming in around $350,000.  A motion was made and seconded by 
David Perez.  The motion was passed unanimously.  

 

Metro District Capital & Operating Loan Agreement Restructuring Revisions / Steve VanNurden 
& Thomas Smith 

The first resolution is a request from the Metro District to borrow additional money of $490,000 
from the Authority. We have already advanced the Metro District $75,000 to cover outstanding 
invoices for the construction of infrastructure for Bioscience 5.    This advance along with the full 
outstanding balance of the Metro District loan balance is expected to be repaid with proceeds from 
the Metro District’s current bond refinancing. The resolution is to permit the advance of an 
additional $411,000 to the Metro District. On a side note, we did receive an interest payment of 
$878,000 in December.  

There is a high level of confidence for the Bond offering to be successful.  Melissa Buck with 
UMB Bank has verified approval of the insurance for the senior bonds and the subordinate bonds.  
This insurance makes the bonds more marketable. The  goal is for the bond offering to post in 
February and price in February. There is uncertainty if they’ll close in March but are working 
towards a close during the1st quarter of 2024.   



A motion was made to approve by David Perez and seconded by Bob Reddy. The motion was 
passed unanimously.  

The second resolution presented is to amend the October 2023 board approval authorizing the 
Authority to engage in restructuring the existing Metro Loan Agreement with the Authority. The 
Board initially authorized the restructuring provided the new agreement aligned with stated 
parameters. Feedback from Bond Counsel, Legal Counsel, Metro Counsel and further negotiations 
between the Authority and the Metro District triggered revisions in the terms. These changes are 
reflected in the proposed agreement included in the board packet. The resolution being presented 
is to authorize Authority Management to finalize negotiations for the restructuring of the Metro 
note pursuant to the terms provided.  

Motion was made to approve by David Perez and seconded by Don Elliman. The motion was 
passed unanimously.  

 

Tryba Master Plan Update & Phase 2 Proposal / Tryba  

Tryba provided a Master Plan Update, including scope of work and timeline of the initial phase.  

A motion was made and seconded to approve Tryba for the Master Plan Update. The motion was 
passed unanimously.  

Adjournment  

There being no further business to come before the Board at this time, the meeting was adjourned. 

 

Adopted and Approved this ___ day of January 2024. 

 

 

By:____________________________  

Mike Coffman 

Chair of the Board of Directors of the Authority 

 

 

Attest:__________________________  

James C.T. Linfield 

Secretary/Treasurer 



CLA (CliftonLarsonAllen LLP) is an independent network member of CLA Global. See CLAglobal.com/disclaimer.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
CLAconnect.com

Finance Committee and Board of Directors 
Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority 
Aurora, Colorado 

We have audited the financial statements Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority (the Authority) as of and 
for the year ended December 31, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated April 12, 2024. We 
have previously communicated to you information about our responsibilities under auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, as well as certain information related to the planned 
scope and timing of our audit in our planning communication dated March 1, 2024. Professional 
standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 

Significant audit findings or issues 

Qualitative aspects of accounting practices 

Accounting policies 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority are described in Note 2 to the financial 
statements.  

As described in Note 2, the Authority adopted Statement of Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB Statement) No. 96, Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangements, and GASB 
Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, in 2023. There was no impact on the financial statements 
as a result of adopting these standards. 

We noted no transactions entered into by the entity during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in 
the proper period. 

Accounting estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management�s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance 
to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. There were no accounting estimates affecting the financial statements 
which were particularly sensitive or required substantial judgments by management.  

Financial statement disclosures 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were:  

The disclosure of the deferred inflow of resources in Note 12: On January 31, 2014 the Authority
sold land to the University of Colorado and simultaneously entered into a 30-year Master Lease
Agreement with the University for approximately 39,800 square feet (the 3rd and 4th floors) of the
BS2 building. The proceeds of the land sale were credited against the obligations of the Authority
as stipulated by the Master Lease Agreement resulting in a deferred inflow of resources in the



Finance Committee and Board of Directors 
Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority 
Page 2 

amount of $1,002,811 which is being recognized over the term of the lease. The Authority 
subleases this space to life sciences related tenants. The University grants an option to the 
Authority to purchase the premises after meeting certain provisions. Under terms of the Master 
Lease Agreement the Authority manages, operates and maintains the property in exchange for 
credits against rent due in an amount equal to 3% of the gross annual rental for the building. 

The disclosure of the negotiated Operations and Capital Funding Agreement between the
Authority and the Metro District in Note 12: On September 30, 2015 the Authority entered into an
Operations and Capital Funding Agreement with the Metro District. This agreement was
superseded by a new funding agreement between the Authority and the Metro District executed
in the first quarter of 2019 extending the commitment of the Authority for continued support of the
Metro District. Under this agreement and until the Metro District is economically independently
viable, the Authority is committed but not required to advance funds on an �as-needed� basis for
operations, maintenance expenses and/or to construct on a reimbursable basis required
infrastructure on behalf of the Metro District for projects outside the scope of the identified
contracts referenced earlier. These future advances bear interest and the agreement stipulate the
Metro District tenders payment for all balances no later than December 31, 2034.

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties encountered in performing the audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 

Uncorrected misstatements  

Professional standards require us to accumulate all misstatements identified during the audit, other than 
those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. 
Management did not identify and we did not notify them of any uncorrected financial statement 
misstatements.  

Corrected misstatements  

Management did not identify and we did not notify them of any financial statement misstatements 
detected as a result of audit procedures. 

Disagreements with management 

For purposes of this communication, a disagreement with management is a disagreement on a financial 
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be 
significant to the financial statements or the auditors� report. No such disagreements arose during our 
audit.  

Circumstances that affect the form and content of the auditors� report 

As previously communicated to you, the report was modified to include an emphasis of matter paragraph 
relating to the restatement of certain amounts in the 2022 Statement of Net Position and 2022 Statement 
of Cash Flows relating to a lease subject to GASB Statement No. 87, Leases.  



Finance Committee and Board of Directors 
Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority 
Page 3 

Management representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the attached 
management representation letter dated April 12, 2024. 

Management consultations with other independent accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a �second opinion� on certain situations. If a consultation involves application 
of an accounting principle to the entity�s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditors� 
opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting 
accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, 
there were no such consultations with other accountants.  

Significant issues discussed with management prior to engagement 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to engagement as the entity�s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our engagement. 

Required supplementary information 

With respect to the required supplementary information (RSI) accompanying the financial statements, we 
made certain inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the RSI, including whether the 
RSI has been measured and presented in accordance with prescribed guidelines, whether the methods 
of measurement and preparation have been changed from the prior period and the reasons for any such 
changes, and whether there were any significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the 
measurement or presentation of the RSI. We compared the RSI for consistency with management�s 
responses to the foregoing inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge obtained during 
the audit of the basic financial statements. Because these limited procedures do not provide sufficient 
evidence, we did not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 

Supplementary information in relation to the financial statements as a whole 

With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, on which we were 
engaged to report in relation to the financial statements as a whole, we made certain inquiries of 
management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine 
that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period or the reasons for such 
changes, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial 
statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting 
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. We have 
issued our report thereon dated April 12, 2024. 

Other information included in annual reports  

Other information (financial or nonfinancial information other than the financial statements and our 
auditors� report thereon) is being included in your annual report and is comprised of the transmittal letter. 
Our responsibility for other information included in your annual report does not extend beyond the 
financial information identified in our opinion on the financial statements. We have no responsibility for 
determining whether such other information is properly stated and do not have an obligation to perform 



Finance Committee and Board of Directors 
Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority 
Page 4 

any procedures to corroborate other information contained in your annual report. We are required by 
professional standards to read the other information included in your annual report and consider whether 
a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial statements because the 
credibility of the financial statements and our auditors� report thereon may be undermined by material 
inconsistencies between the audited financial statements and other information. If, based on the work 
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we 
are required to describe it in our report. Our auditors� report on the financial statements includes a 
separate section, �Other Information,� which states we do not express an opinion or any form of 
assurance on the other information included in the annual report. We did not identify any material 
inconsistencies between the other information and the audited financial statements.  

* * *

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the board of directors, finance 
committee, and management of the Authority and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by 
anyone other than these specified parties.  

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Broomfield, Colorado 
April 12, 2024  



 

April 12, 2024

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
370 Interlocken Blvd., Suite 500
Broomfield, Colorado 80021

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audits of the financial statements of Fitzsimons
Redevelopment Authority as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the respective changes in financial position and
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to misstatements that are material.
Misstatements, including omissions, are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, as of April 12, 2024, the following representations made to
you during your audit.

Financial Statements
1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement agreement dated

January 9, 2024, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
U.S. GAAP. The financial statements include all properly classified funds and other financial information
of the primary government and all component units required by generally accepted accounting principles
to be included in the financial reporting entity.

2. We acknowledge and have fulfilled our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance
of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
to prevent and detect fraud.

4. Methods, data, and significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates and their related
disclosures, including thosemeasured at fair value, are appropriate to achieve recognition, measurement,
or disclosure that is reasonable in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

5. Related party relationships and transactions, including, but not limited to, revenues,
expenditures/expenses, loans, transfers, leasing arrangements, and guarantees, and amounts receivable
from or payable to related parties have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance
with the requirements of U.S. GAAP.

12635 East Montview Boulevard, Aurora, Colorado 80045  Tel: 720-859-4100  Fax: 720-859-4110  www.FitzScience.org



April 12, 2024
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Page 2

6. All events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which U.S. GAAP requires
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

7. We have not identified or been notified of any uncorrected financial statement misstatements.

8. We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation, claims, or assessments or unasserted claims or
assessments that are required to be accrued or disclosed in the financial statements in accordance with
U.S. GAAP, and we have not consulted a lawyer concerning litigation, claims, or assessments.

9. Arrangements with financial institutions involving compensating balances, or other arrangements
involving restrictions on cash balances and line of credit or similar arrangements, have been properly
recorded or disclosed in the financial statements.

10. Receivables recorded in the financial statements represent valid claims against debtors for transactions
arising on or before the financial statement date, and the carrying amounts of those receivables and
related allowances are determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

11. We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets,
liabilities, or equity.

12. We have implemented GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription Based Information Technology
Arrangements, and GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, during the audit period. We have
implemented the new accounting standards in accordance with the transition guidance prescribed in the
standards. We have sufficient and appropriate documentation supporting all estimates and judgments
underlying the amounts recorded and disclosed in the financial statements.

13. Participation in a public entity risk pool has been properly reported and disclosed in the financial
statements.

14. We understand TABOR (Section 20 to Article X of the Colorado Constitution) is complex and subject to
interpretations and that many of the provisions will require judicial interpretation. We have reviewed the
various positions and interpretations and believe to the best of our knowledge at this time, the Authority
is in compliance with TABOR.

15. We have informed all banking and savings and loan institutions that our deposits are subject to the
respective Public Deposit Protection Act and have provided banking institutions with our assigned
number.

Information Provided

1. We have provided you with:

a. Access to all information, of which we are aware, that is relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements such as records (including information obtained from
within and outside of the general and subsidiary ledgers), documentation, and other matters.

12635 East Montview Boulevard, Aurora, Colorado 80045  Tel: 720-859-4100  Fax: 720-859-4110  www.FitzScience.org



April 12, 2024
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Page 3

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit.

c. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to
obtain audit evidence.

d. Complete minutes of the meetings of the governing board and related committees, or summaries
of actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared.

e. Access to all audit or relevant monitoring reports, if any, received from funding sources.

2. All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial
statements.

3. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be
materially misstated as a result of fraud.

4. We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity and involves:

a. Management;

b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or

c. Others when the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

5. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the entity's financial
statements communicated by employees, former employees, grantors, regulators, or others.

6. We have no knowledge of any instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and
regulations and provisions of contracts and grant agreements, or waste or abuse whose effects should be
considered when preparing financial statements.

7. We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation, claims, or assessments, or unasserted claims
or assessments, that are required to be accrued or disclosed in the financial statements in accordance
with U.S. GAAP, and we have not consulted a lawyer concerning litigation, claims, or assessments.

8. There are no other material liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or
disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

9. We have disclosed to you the identity of all the entity's related parties and all the related party
relationships and transactions of which we are aware, including any side agreements.

10. The entity has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on such assets,
nor has any asset been pledged as collateral, except as made known to you and disclosed in the financial
statements.

12635 East Montview Boulevard, Aurora, Colorado 80045  Tel: 720-859-4100  Fax: 720-859-4110  www.FitzScience.org



April 12, 2024
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Page 4

11. We are responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant
agreements applicable to Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority, including tax or debt limits and debt
contracts; and we have identified and disclosed to you all laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts
and grant agreements that we believe have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial
statement amounts or other financial data significant to the audit objectives, including legal and
contractual provisions for reporting specific activities in separate funds.

12. There are no violations or possible violations of budget ordinances, laws and regulations (including those
pertaining to adopting, approving, and amending budgets), provisions of contracts and grant agreements,
tax or debt limits, and any related debt covenants whose effects should be considered for disclosure in
the financial statements, or as a basis for recording a loss contingency, or for reporting on noncompliance.

13. The entity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on
the financial statements in the event of noncompliance.

14. We have followed all applicable laws and regulations in adopting, approving, and amending budgets.

15. The financial statements include all component units as well as joint ventures with an equity interest, and
properly disclose all other joint ventures, jointly governed organizations, and other related organizations.

16. The financial statements properly classify all funds and activities.

17. All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASB Statement Nos. 34 and 37 for presentation as major
are identified and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are particularly
important to financial statement users.

18. Components of net position (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted) and equity
amounts are properly classified and, if applicable, approved.

19. Investments, derivative instruments, and land are properly valued.

20. Deposits and investment securities and derivative instruments are properly classified as to risk and are
properly valued and disclosed.

21. Capital assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and, if
applicable, depreciated.

22. We have appropriately disclosed the entity�s policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or
unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and
unrestricted net position is available and have determined that net position is properly recognized under
the policy.

23. We acknowledge our responsibility for the required supplementary information (RSI). The RSI is measured
and presented within prescribed guidelines and the methods of measurement and presentation have not
changed from those used in the prior period. We have disclosed to you any significant assumptions and
interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of the RSI.

12635 East Montview Boulevard, Aurora, Colorado 80045  Tel: 720-859-4100  Fax: 720-859-4110  www.FitzScience.org









CLA (CliftonLarsonAllen LLP) is an independent network member of CLA Global. See CLAglobal.com/disclaimer. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
CLAconnect.com 

2 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

Board of Directors 
Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority 
Aurora, Colorado 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority 
(the Authority), as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed 
in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Authority, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in financial 
position and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 17 to the financial statements, certain amounts in the 2022 Statement of Net 
Position and 2022 Statement of Cash Flows were restated relating to a lease subject to GASB 
Statement No. 87, Leases. These changes had no impact on the Authority’s net position or cash 
balances. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 



Board of Directors 
Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority 

3 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is 
the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, 
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial 
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 



Board of Directors 
Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority 

4 

Supplementary Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in funds available - budget and actual (budgetary basis) and the reconciliation 
of budgetary basis (actual) to statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position, and the 
related notes (collectively, the supplementary information) are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility 
of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the accompanying supplementary 
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information 
comprises the transmittal letter but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon. Our opinion on the basic financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not 
express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audits of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the 
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information 
exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Broomfield, Colorado 
April 12, 2024 



















































































Assets 2024 2023
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 8,853,473$            8,994,214$            
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 2,525,167          2,518,941          

Investments 2,465                  2,465                  
Accounts receivable 227,465             307,184             
Prepaid expenses 161,250             137,824             
Current portion of notes receivable 19,203,961        18,256,840        

Lease receivable 4,692,143          5,475,325          
Total current assets 35,665,924            35,692,793            

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets, net:

Land 651,670             651,670             
Intangibles - Web development 6,158                  403                     
Buildings and improvements 57,253,561        57,983,211        
Furniture and equipment 4,414,047          4,345,870          
Right to use lease asset net of amortization 9,507,674          9,631,795          
Construction in progress 4,031,386          4,184,562          

Total capital assets 75,864,496            76,797,511            
Prepaid Lease Commissions 166,419             179,712             
Notes receivable, net of current portion 255,862             269,552             
Derivative instruments - interest rate swap 743,488             654,282             
Lease receivable, net of current portion 27,480,385        27,546,550        

Total noncurrent assets 104,510,650          105,447,607          
Total assets 140,176,574          141,140,400          

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflow of resources - lease 951,496             963,853             

Total deferred outflow of resources 951,496             963,853             

Liabilities 
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 191,698             1,091,063          
Accrued salaries and compensated absences 68,664                145,676             
Current portion of interest payable 313,914             232,309             
Current portion of notes payable 6,347,496          5,662,380          
Current portion of lease liability 393,513             393,513             
Security deposits 501,998             545,324             
Unearned revenue 103,306             243,377             

Total current liabilities 7,920,589              8,313,642              
Noncurrent liabilities:

Notes payable, net of current portion 42,037,837        42,199,317        
Lease liability, net of current portion 9,606,009          9,606,009          

Total noncurrent liabilities 51,643,846            51,805,326            
Total liabilities 59,564,435            60,118,968            

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflow of resources (BS2) 688,370             696,868             
Deferred inflow of resources - interest swap 743,488             654,282             
Deferred inflow of resources leases 32,172,528        33,021,875        

Total inflow of resources 33,604,386            34,373,025            

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 18,431,138            19,030,760            
Restricted 2,525,167          2,518,941          
Unrestricted 27,002,944            26,062,559            

Total net position 47,959,249$          47,612,260$          

FITZSIMONS REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Statements of Net Position

As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023



Q1 '2024 2023 2022
Operating revenues:

Tenant revenues 1,935,831$            7,390,295$            6,598,830$          

    Parking revenues 261,922                 1,101,085              741,627               

Tenant lease interest 333,471                 1,448,108              1,468,437            

Parking lease interest 36,742                   200,394                 158,030               

Other income 149,525                 644,402                 632,299               

Total operating revenues 2,717,491              10,784,284            9,599,223            

Operating expenses:

Property services 600,065                 2,645,623              2,378,385            

Personnel services 368,542                 1,527,204              1,469,264            

Professional services 51,732                   197,009                 99,800                 

Parking services 36,158                   148,786                 126,761               

Administrative and marketing 98,254                   367,315                 521,375               
Bad debt expense -                         -                         -                       

Depreciation and amortization 834,935                 3,323,690              3,255,866            

Amortization of Right-of-use asset 124,121                 496,485                 496,484               

Total operating expenses 2,113,807              8,706,112              8,347,935            

Operating income 603,684                 2,078,172              1,251,288            

Non-operating revenue (expenses):

Interest income 465,982                 1,902,187              930,683               

Non-operating income (expense) -                         652                        1,810,876            

Debt issuance expenses -                         (117,118)                (22,850)                

Interest expense (722,677)                (2,536,544)             (2,931,105)           

Non-operating revenue (expenses) (256,695)                (750,823)                (212,396)              

Change in net position 346,989                 1,327,349              1,038,892            

Net position, beginning of year 47,612,260            46,284,911            45,246,019          
Net position, end of period 47,959,249$          47,612,260$          46,284,911$        

FITZSIMONS REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position



2022 % of Rev Q1 2023 Q2 2023 Q3 2023 Q4 2023 2023 % of Rev Q1 2024 2024 % of Rev QoQ Change

Operating revenues:
Tenant revenues 6,598,830$       68.7% 1,899,259      1,602,336      1,973,729      1,914,971      7,390,295      68.5% 1,935,831$      1,935,831$        71.2% -0.8%

     Parking revenues 741,627            7.7% 233,676         310,393         286,047         270,969         1,101,085      10.2% 261,922           261,922             9.6% -4.3%
Operating Interest Income 1,468,437         15.3% 388,945         375,131         361,527         322,505         1,448,108      13.4% 333,471           333,471             12.3%
Parking Interest Income 158,030            1.6% 78,548           42,520           40,622           38,704           200,394         1.9% 36,742             36,742               1.4%
Other income 632,299            6.6% 146,745         166,934         157,281         173,442         644,402         6.0% 149,525           149,525             5.5% 1.9%

Total operating revenues 9,599,223         99.9% 2,747,173      2,497,314      2,819,206      2,720,591      10,784,284    100.0% 2,717,491        2,717,491          100% -1.1%
Operating expenses:

Property services 2,378,385         24.8% 637,305         672,562         695,355         640,401         2,645,623      24.5% 600,065           600,065             22.1% -5.8%
Personnel services 1,469,264         15.3% 371,455         365,513         385,241         404,995         1,527,204      14.2% 368,542           368,542             13.6% -0.8%
Professional services 99,800              1.0% 34,490           56,386           38,178           67,955           197,009         1.8% 51,732             51,732               1.9% 50.0%
Parking services 126,761            1.3% 21,763           49,679           36,622           40,722           148,786         1.4% 36,158             36,158               1.3% 66.1%
Administrative and marketing 521,375            5.4% 83,711           91,554           109,657         82,393           367,315         3.4% 98,254             98,254               3.6% 17.4%
Bad debt expense -                    0.0% -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 0.0% -                   -                    0.0%
Depreciation and amortization 3,255,866         33.9% 831,776         829,808         830,921         831,185         3,323,690      30.8% 834,935           834,935             30.7% 0.4%
Amortization of Right-of-use asset 496,484            5.2% 124,121         124,122         124,121         124,121         496,485         4.6% 124,121           124,121             4.6% 0.0%

Total operating expenses 8,347,935         87.0% 2,104,621      2,189,624      2,220,095      2,191,772      8,706,112      80.7% 2,113,807        2,113,807          77.8% 0.4%
     Operating income 1,251,288         13.0% 642,552         307,690         599,111         528,819         2,078,172      19.3% 603,684           603,684             22.2% -6.0%

Non-operating revenue (expenses):
Interest income (non GASB 87) 930,683            705,362         546,858         (58,352)          708,319         1,902,187      465,982           465,982             -33.9%
Non-operating income 1,810,876         351                285                16                  -                 652                -                   -                    -100.0%
Debt issuance expenses (22,850)            (81,830)          (3,499)            (3,289)            (28,500)          (117,118)        -                   -                    -100.0%
Interest expense (2,931,105)       -30.5% (801,943)        (830,690)        (216,869)        (687,042)        (2,536,544)     -23.5% (722,677)          (722,677)           -26.6% -9.9%

Nonoperating revenue (expenses) (212,396)          (178,060)        (287,046)        (278,494)        (7,223)            (750,823)        (256,695)          (256,695)           

Change in net position 1,038,892         464,492         20,644           320,617         521,596         1,327,349      346,989           346,989             
Net position, beginning of period 45,246,019       46,284,911    47,612,260        
Net position, end of period 46,284,911$     47,612,260    47,959,249$      

FITZSIMONS REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Statements of Revenues & Expenses (Quarterly Comparative)



 
Q1 2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash received from tenants and others 2,589,416$        10,929,392$      

Cash payments to employees (445,554)            (1,498,070)         

Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (1,335,341)         (2,682,743)         

Net cash provided by operating activities 808,521             6,748,579          

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities

Purchase of capital assets (359,694)            (5,207,276)         

Proceeds from sale of capital assets & other non-operating income -                     652                    

Payments for principal on long term debt and lease liability (227,760)            (7,274,008)         

Proceeds from the issuance of debt 751,396             2,066,464          

Debt issuance costs -                     (117,118)            

Payments for interest on long term debt and lease liability (641,073)            (2,584,244)         

Net cash provided by/(used in) capital and related financing activities (477,131)            (13,115,530)       

Cash flows from noncapital related financing activities:

Loans to Metro District (580,476)            (644,166)            

Payments received on notes receivable / (Notes issued) 12,894               34,161               

Net cash provided by/(used in) noncapital related financing activities (567,582)            (610,005)            

Cash flows from investing activities:

Investment income 101,677             1,153,969          

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 101,677             1,153,969          

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (134,515)            (5,822,987)         

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 11,515,620        17,338,607        

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 11,381,105$      11,515,620$      

11,381,105        11,515,620        

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by -                     -                     

operating activities

Operating Income 603,684$           2,078,172$        

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash

         provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 959,056             3,820,175          

Deferred Income (8,498)                (33,994)              

(Increase) decrease in trade & TI receivables 63,820               49,081               

(Increase)/decrease in prepaid expenses (23,426)              10,596               

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (525,706)            665,394             

Increase (decrease) in accrued salaries and compensated absences (77,012)              29,134               

Increase (decrease) in security deposits and unearned revenue (183,397)            130,021             

Net cash provided by operating activities 808,521$           6,748,579$        

FITZSIMONS REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Statement of Cash Flows (non-GASB compliant)

For the Periods



 
Q1 2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash received from tenants and others 577,743$           2,905,260$        

Cash payments to employees (445,554)            (1,498,070)         

Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (1,335,341)         (2,682,743)         

Net cash used in operating activities (1,203,152)         (1,275,553)         

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities

Purchase of capital assets (359,694)            (5,207,276)         

Proceeds from sale of capital assets & other non-operating income -                     652                    

Proceeds from the sale of land -                     -                     

Payments for principal on long term debt and lease liability (227,760)            (7,274,008)         

Proceeds from the issuance of debt 751,396             2,066,464          

Lease payments received 2,011,673          8,024,132          

Debt issuance costs -                     (117,118)            

Payments for interest on long term debt and lease liability (641,073)            (2,584,244)         

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities 1,534,542          (5,091,398)         

Cash flows from noncapital related financing activities:

Loans to Metro District (580,476)            (644,166)            

Payments received on notes receivable 12,894               34,161               

Net cash provided by/(used in) noncapital related financing activities (567,582)            (610,005)            

Cash flows from investing activities:

Investment income 101,677             1,153,969          

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 101,677             1,153,969          

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (134,515)            (5,822,987)         

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 11,515,620        17,338,607        

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 11,381,105$      11,515,620$      

11,381,105        

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by -                     

operating activities

Operating Income 603,684$           2,078,172$        

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash

         provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 959,056             3,820,175          

Deferred Income (8,498)                (33,994)              

Deferred inflows from leases (1,641,460)         (6,375,629)         

Interest income from leases included in capital & related financing activities (370,213)            (1,648,503)         

(Increase) decrease in trade & TI receivables 63,820               49,081               

(Increase)/decrease in prepaid expenses (23,426)              10,596               

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (525,706)            665,394             

Increase (decrease) in accrued salaries and compensated absences (77,012)              29,134               

Increase (decrease) in security deposits and unearned revenue (183,397)            130,021             

Net cash used in operating activities (1,203,152)$       (1,275,553)$       

FITZSIMONS REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Periods



1  

AMENDED AND RESTATED INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT ESTABLISHING 
THE FITZSIMONS REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, entered into as of the 1st ____day of January____, 1998_____, by 

and between the City of Aurora, a political subdivision and municipal corporation of the State of 
Colorado (the "City"), and the Regents of the University of Colorado, a constitutional body 
corporate of the State of Colorado (the "Regents"), collectively referred to as the "Parties," 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the Parties previously entered into that certain Intergovernmental Agreement 
Establishing the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority on January 1st, 1998 (the “Original IGA”); 
and  

 
WHEREAS, since the adoption of the Original IGA, the Original IGA has been amended 

on five separate occasions, namely the First Amendment dated September 11, 1998, the Second 
Amendment dated July 25, 2001, the Third Amendment June 25, 2011, the Fourth Amendment 
dated May 5, 2012 and the Fifth Amendment dated October 22, 2014 (collectively the 
“Amendments”); and  

 
WHEREAS, in order consolidate the various Amendments to the Original IGA and 

incorporate the most recent changes the Parties wish to amend and restate the Original IGA along 
with all of the Amendments in this Amended and Restated Intergovernmental Agreement 
Establishing the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority; and  

 
WHEREAS, this Agreement replaces the Original IGA and the Amendments in their 

entirety; and  
 
WHEREAS, Article XIV, Section 18(2)(a) of the Colorado Constitution provides that the 

Constitution shall not be interpreted "to prohibit the state or any of its political subdivisions from 
cooperating or contracting with one another or with the government of the United States to provide 
any function, service, or facility lawfully authorized to each of the cooperating or contracting 
units, including the sharing of costs, the imposition of taxes, or the incurring of debt"; and 
 

WHEREAS, Article XIV, Section 18(2)(b) of the Colorado Constitution further provides 
that the Constitution shall not be interpreted "to prohibit the authorization by statute of a separate 
governmental entity as an instrument to be used through voluntary participation by cooperating 
or contracting political subdivisions"; and 
 

WHEREAS, the General Assembly has enacted Section 29-1-203(4), C.R.S., to 
implement the provisions of Article XIV, Sections 18(2)(a) and (b) of the Colorado Constitution 
by authorizing political subdivisions to establish, by contract, a separate legal entity to provide 
any function, service, or facility lawfully authorized to each; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City is a home-rule municipal corporation and political subdivision of the 
State of Colorado, created pursuant to Article XX of the Colorado Constitution and entrusted 
thereunder with the performance of municipal functions, duties, powers, and obligations; and 



2  

 
WHEREAS, the Regents are a body corporate of the State of Colorado, created pursuant 

to Article IX, Section 12 of the Colorado Constitution and entrusted thereunder with the 
supervision and government of the University of Colorado; and 
 

WHEREAS, Fitzsimons Army Medical Center, now called the United States Army 
Garrison, Fitzsimons ("Fitzsimons"), consisting of approximately 577 acres of land, was approved 
for closure by the Congress of the United States in September, 1995, based upon the 
recommendations of the Base Realignment and Closure Commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the requirements of the Defense Base Closure and Realignment 
Act, the Base Closure Community Assistance Act, and the Base Closure Community 
Redevelopment and Homeless Assistance Act, the Department of Defense requires that there be 
established a single authority capable of managing Fitzsimons and promoting economic 
redevelopment at Fitzsimons after closure; and 
 

WHEREAS, from the time of the announcement of the closure of Fitzsimons, the 
City has utilized an internal agency of the City to act as a redevelopment authority for 
Fitzsimons (the "Prior Authority"); and 

 
WHEREAS, the City, through the Prior Authority, has been granted an interim lease of 

various properties at Fitzsimons, including the hospital property, the majority of which has been 
subleased to the Regents; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Regents have approved plans to relocate the University of Colorado 
Health Sciences Center campus to Fitzsimons and intend for the University to be a major 
participant in the development of property at Fitzsimons for the foreseeable future; and 
 

WHEREAS, this Agreement is not intended to apply to that property within Fitzsimons 
which is owned by the Regents unless and until the Regents sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of 
such property to the Authority or to a third party; and 
 

WHEREAS, this Agreement is not intended to change, alter, or modify in any way the 
Sublease Agreement dated April 14, 1997, by and between the City and the Regents relating to 
Building 500 and the east and west parking lots associated therewith; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Parties have a compelling mutual interest in developing and coordinating 
all plans, present and future, for Fitzsimons and developing reuse strategies to promote economic 
redevelopment at Fitzsimons; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Parties now wish to create a separate legal entity to provide the services 

necessary to maintain, manage, promote, and implement economic redevelopment at Fitzsimons 
after its closure; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Parties further desire to grant this entity the powers necessary to provide 
economic redevelopment services to those areas within the City immediately adjacent to the 
boundaries of Fitzsimons; and 



3  

 
WHEREAS, the Parties intend that the Authority hereby created fall within the definition 

of a "Public Entity" under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, Section 24-10-101, et seq., 
C.R.S.; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Parties that, for the purposes of interpreting the application 

of law to the Authority, the Authority shall be treated as a local or municipal body, and that the 
limitations and requirements applicable to agencies and departments of the State of Colorado shall not 
apply to the Authority.   

 
WHEREAS, it is deemed in the best interests of the Parties and for the public health, 

safety, convenience, and welfare of the residents of the City and the State of Colorado that the 
Parties enter into this Amended and Restated Intergovernmental Agreement, 

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, obligations, and 

conditions expressed herein, it is agreed by and between the parties hereto, as follows: 
 

ARTICLE ONE 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
1.1 Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority.  Upon the effective date of this 

Agreement, there is hereby established a separate public entity to be known as the Fitzsimons 
Redevelopment Authority ("Authority"). The Parties agree the Authority is an independent, 
legal entity separate and distinct from both of the parties.  The Authority shall have the 
powers set forth herein over any property it shall acquire by lease or deed, to perform 
caretaker services within Fitzsimons, which is more particularly described in the legal 
description attached hereto as Appendix "A", and to perform redevelopment services within 
the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Area, which is more particularly described in the general 
description and boundary map attached hereto as Appendix “B.” 

 
1.2 Governing Body.   The Authority shall be governed by a twelve thirteen (123) 

member Board of Directors (“Board”) which Board shall have the power to provide the functions 
and services for which the Authority is formed, as set forth more fully herein. 
 

1.3 Purpose. The Authority is organized for the purpose of providing necessary and 
incidental ownership, management, maintenance and economic redevelopment services and 
improvements at Fitzsimons and elsewhere within the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Area, including 
but not limited to the following: 
 

A. Creation of an economic development plan as more particularly set forth in 
Article Three. 

 
B. Creation of a multiple-year business plan and an annual operating plan. 

 
C. Conducting community outreach activities which shall include public 

education and information. 
 



4  

D. Providing real estate development and property management services. 
 

E. Applying for and administering grants from any source for activities related to 
the Authority’s functions. 

 
F. Monitoring the environmental remediation to be undertaken at Fitzsimons by 

the Department of Defense pursuant to federal or state statute. 
 

G. Complying with the provisions of the Base Closure Community 
Redevelopment and Homeless Assistance Act of 1994, as amended, regarding 
homeless assistance providers, to the extent applicable. 

 
 1.4 Immunity.  The Authority shall enjoy all the immunities and limitations on liability 
afforded public entities by the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, Section 24-10-101, et seq., 
C.R.S. as amended. 
 
 1.5 Enterprise. It is the intent of the Parties by this Agreement to confer upon the 
Authority all of the powers and attributes necessary for the Authority to qualify as an "Enterprise" 
within the meaning of Article X, Section 20(2)(d) of the Colorado Constitution. 
 
 1.6 Redevelopment Plan.  It is the expressed intent of the Parties hereto that future 
redevelopment of Fitzsimons be consistent with the final Record of Decision issued with regard 
to Fitzsimons by the Department of Defense and any Redevelopment Plan developed and 
approved by the Authority. Any proposed Redevelopment Plan, or any amendment to an approved 
Redevelopment Plan, shall be submitted to each of the Parties for review and comment prior to 
its submission to the Department of Defense. Amendments to any approved Redevelopment Plan 
may occur only upon the approval of the Board, except to the extent approval of such amendments 
has been delegated to the Executive Committee  
 
 l.7 Effective Date. This Agreement shall be effective as of January l, 
1998____________. 
 

1.8 Insurance. The Authority shall at all times maintain with responsible issuers the 
following insurance: 

 
 A. Worker's Compensation Insurance as required by law. 
 
 B. Comprehensive General Liability Insurance with a minimum $600,000 

combined single limit for each occurrence. The General Liability Insurance 
required hereby shall contain a "waiver of subrogation" clause stating that the 
Authority waives its rights of recovery against the City, the Regents, and 
their respective officers, agents and employees. 

 
 C. Public Officials' Liability Insurance in an amount no less than $5,000,000. 
 
 D. In the event the Authority purchases, leases, or otherwise acquires motor 

vehicles, including trucks and service vehicles, Comprehensive Automobile 



5  

Liability Insurance with a minimum $600,000 combined single limit for each 
occurrence. 

 
 1.9 Indemnification of the Parties.  To the extent authorized by law, the Authority 
shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Parties, their officers, agents, and employees from 
and against any and all claims, damages, liabilities, and court awards, including costs, expenses, 
and attorney fees, incurred as a result of any act, error, or omission by the Authority, or any of its 
officers, agents, or employees in the performance of the Authority's obligations under this 
Agreement. 

 
1.10 Records.  The books and records of the Authority shall be open for inspection by 

the public at reasonable times, in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the Colorado 
Public Records Law, Section 24-72-201, et seq., C.R.S., as amended. 
 
  



6  

ARTICLE TWO 
ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 

 
 2.1 Board of Directors Composition.  The Authority's governing Board shall be 
comprised of twelve thirteen (123) members who shall serve without compensation but may be 
reimbursed for their actual expenses incurred in serving the Authority. The City shall have three 
(3) representatives on the Board, the Regents shall have two (2) representatives on the Board, the 
Board of Directors of the University of Colorado Hospital Authority (the "Hospital Authority") 
shall have one (1) representative on the Board, the Board of Directors of The Children's Hospital 
(the "TCH Board") shall have one (1) representative on the Board, and the Board shall appoint 
five six (56) representatives to serve on the Board ("Private Sector Board Members"). The City's 
representatives shall be appointed by the City Council, and may include the Mayor, City Council 
members or other City appointees, as determined by the City in its sole discretion. The Regent's 
representatives shall consist of the individual appointed to serve as Chancellor (or equivalent top-
level administrator) of the University of Colorado's campus at Fitzsimons (the "Chancellor") and 
one (1) representative appointed by the President of the University of Colorado. The Hospital 
Authority's representative shall be appointed by the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the 
Hospital Authority. The TCH Board's representative shall be appointed by the Chairman of the 
TCH Board. The Chancellor may be represented at any Board meeting by his or her designee; 
provided that such designee shall have voting rights and shall be counted to constitute a quorum. 
In the event either Party appoints an elected official to the Board, termination of the elected 
official's status as an elected official to the office held at the time of appointment shall 
automatically result in termination of that person's membership on the Board. No employee of the 
Authority shall be eligible to be a member of the Board. The Private Sector Board Members shall 
consist of (a) two three (23) individuals with special expertise in subject matter relevant to the 
redevelopment of Fitzsimons and elsewhere within the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Area, such as 
real estate development, banking or financing, and (b) three (3) individuals with expertise in the 
industry(ies) deemed to be targeted users of land located within the Fitzsimons Redevelopment 
Area, including, without limitation, the bioscience industry and other complementary bioscience-
related industries (the "Targeted Industries"). 
 
 2.2 Ex-Officio Board Members. The executive officer of the Authority shall be an 
ex-officio member of the Board. In addition, the Board may appoint ex-officio members of 
the Board as is deemed necessary by the Board.  Ex-Officio Board members shall have no 
voting rights and shall not be counted to constitute a quorum. 
 
 2.3 Term of Appointed Board Members. The term of appointed members of the Board 
shall be three (3) years. The appointing Party or the Board, if applicable, shall be responsible for 
appointing new members to full three (3) years terms as members' terms expire. Vacancies shall 
be filled by the appointing Party or Board, if applicable, for the unexpired term of any member 
whose term becomes vacant. There shall be no term limits for members of the Board. The two (2) 
existing Board appointees of the City whose term on the Board shall be terminated as of the 
effective date of appointment of the first two (2) Private Sector Board Members from Targeted 
Industries shall continue to serve as members of the Board in accordance with the Agreement, 
Bylaws and any adopted Policies until the first two (2) Private Sector Board Members from the 
Targeted Industries are appointed to the Board. The first Private Sector Board Members from the 
Targeted Industries shall be appointed for a one year term, two year term and three year term, 



7  

respectively. Upon expiration of the initial terms, the Private Sector Board Members from 
Targeted Industries shall serve for three (3) year terms. 
 
The appointing Party shall be responsible for appointing new members to full-two (2) year terms 
as members’ terms expire.  Vacancies shall be filled by the appointing Party for the unexpired 
term of any member whose term becomes vacant. 

 
2.4 Removal of Board Members. Board members may be removed with or without 

cause by the appointing Party upon written notice to the member. Notice of removal or resignation 
of a Board member shall be given to the other Party and the Chairperson of the Board. The Party 
which appointed a Board member who has resigned or been removed shall appoint a new Board 
member within thirty (30) days following such resignation or removal. 
 

2.5  Voting and Quorum. A quorum of the Board shall consist of six seven (67) 
Directors for any regular or special meeting. A quorum of the Board for any special committee 
(as authorized pursuant to Article VI of the Bylaws) shall consist of four (4) Directors. No official 
action may be taken by the Board on any matter unless a quorum is present. Any member present 
who shall abstain from any vote or discussion for any reason, including such member's conflict of 
interest on any matter, shall be counted in determining the presence of a quorum. Each member 
of the Board shall have one (1) vote. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, the affirmative 
vote of a majority of the Board members present at the time of the vote shall be required for the 
Board to any action. 
 

2.6 Bylaws and Policies.  The Board may adopt Bylaws and Policies as may be 
necessary for the conduct of the Authority so long as such Bylaws and Policies are not in conflict 
with the provisions of this Agreement. Bylaws and any amendments thereto shall be adopted by 
a vote of two thirds of the Board. Policies and any amendments thereto shall be adopted by a 
majority vote of the Board. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Board shall adopt 
financial and real estate Policies which shall govern the conduct of the Authority related to such 
matters. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such financial and real estate Policies 
shall establish appropriate methods for the attestation or verification of signatures on all contracts 
or agreements to be signed by the Chairperson, Chair-ElectVice Chairperson, or other officers or 
employees of the Authority. 

 
 2.7  Officers of the Board. The Board shall elect a Chairperson, Chair-ElectVice 
Chairperson, and Secretary and Treasurer (collectively, the "Officers") from the Directors, and 
each Officer shall serve a two (2) year term. The election of the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, 
Secretary and Treasurer shall take place annually at the first regular meeting of the calendar year 
and each of them shall hold office until his or her successor shall have been duly elected and 
qualified, or until his or her earlier death, removal, resignation, or disability. Chair-Elect shall be 
elected at the start of each regular meeting of the Board and shall serve until his/her successor is 
appointed, or until his or her earlier death, removal, resignation, or disability. The officers shall 
perform the following duties normal for their officer including but not limited to the following: 
 

A.  The Chairperson shall preside over all Board meetings and enter into 
obligations on behalf of the Authority, except contracts or agreements 
which may be signed by officers delegated that responsibility by the 



8  

Board, and shall perform such other duties as may be authorized by the 
Board. 
 

B.  In the absence of the Chairperson or in the event of his or her death or 
inability to act, the Chair-Elect Vice Chairperson shall perform all of the 
duties of the Chairperson and, when so acting, shall have all the powers 
of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chairperson. The Chair-
Elect Vice Chairperson shall perform such other duties as may be 
authorized by the Board from time to time. 

 
C.  The Secretary/Treasurer shall (a) see that the minutes of the meetings 

of the Board are kept in one or more books provided for that purpose; 
(b) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions 
of these Bylaws or the Intergovernmental Agreement; (c) attest to all 
contracts or agreements signed by the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, 
or other officers or employees of the Authority, except contracts or 
agreements which may be attested to by officers delegated that 
responsibility by the Board or by the Intergovernmental Agreement; (d) 
have charge of and be responsible for all funds of the Authority; (e) see 
that the financial books and records of the Authority are kept and 
maintained; and (f) in general, shall perform all duties incident to the 
office of Secretary/Treasurer and such other duties as may be authorized 
by the Board from time to time. 

 
2.8 Meetings. Meetings of the Board shall be held at the call of the Chairperson 

and shall be conducted in accordance with the following requirements: 
 
A. The Board shall hold at least four (4) regular meetings each calendar 

year at such time and place as the Authority shall decide and may, upon 
the call of the Chairperson or any three (3) Board members, hold special 
meetings. Any regular meeting may be canceled by a simple majority of 
the Board or by the Chairperson for good cause. 

 
B. All regular and special meetings held by the Board and any 

subcommittee meetings of the Board where public business is discussed 
or at which formal action may be taken shall be open to the public and 
subject to the Colorado Open Meetings Law, Section 24-6-401, et seq., 
C.R.S., as amended.  Notice of all regular meetings and special meetings 
shall include an agenda, board packet, minutes, and other materials to be 
considered at the meeting and shall be posted on the FRA website, the City 
of Aurora Website, and in a designated public place located within the FRA 
no less than twenty-four-seventy-two (2472) hours prior to the meeting.   

 
H. The Board shall keep minutes of its proceedings showing the 

presence or absence of each Board member and the vote of each 
member upon every motion. Failure to vote and any abstentions shall 
be noted in the minutes. Minutes and records of Board meetings shall 



9  

be open to the public and subject to the Colorado Open Meetings 
Law. 
 

2.9 Executive Committee. The Executive Committee of the Authority shall be a 
Special Committee of the Board and it is delegated such powers of the Authority and such 
powers of the Board as the Board deems appropriate ("Executive Committee"). The Executive 
Committee shall consist of no fewer than six (6) of the Directors and it must include the 
Chairperson of the Board, Secretary/Treasurer of the Board, the Executive Officer/CEO and 
President of the Authority (but only as an ex-officio member that does not count as one of the 
six (6) Directors), and any other such members of the Board as the Board deems appropriate; 
provided that, in any event, the Executive Committee shall include at least one Board member 
appointed by the City and one Board member appointed by the Regents and shall attempt to 
include the interests of the stakeholders on the Board. Any Director may choose to attend any 
meeting for the Executive Committee but only those Director's appointed to the Executive 
Committee shall have a voting right. 

 
ARTICLE THREE 

POWERS OF THE AUTHORITY 
 

3.1 Plenary Powers.  Except as otherwise limited by this Agreement, the Authority, 
in its name and as provided herein, shall exercise all powers lawfully authorized herein by the 
Parties pursuant to Section 29-1-203, C.R.S., as amended, including all incidental, implied, 
expressed, or such other powers as necessary to execute the purposes of this Agreement. The 
Authority shall act through its Board, its Executive Committee, its officers, and employees as 
authorized by the Board pursuant to this Agreement, the Bylaws, and any adopted Policies. 
The Authority shall not have the power to represent itself as or act as agent for or on behalf of 
either of the Parties without their prior written consent. 

 
3.2 Enumerated Powers, The Authority's powers shall be those powers 

delegated by the Parties through this Agreement. Such powers shall include the following: 
 

A. To acquire, hold, operate, manage, lease, sell, convey, or otherwise 
dispose of real and personal property, or any interest therein, in the 
name of the Authority; 

 
B. To make and enter into contracts which it may deem necessary or 

convenient to the exercise of its powers under this Section 3.2, 
including, without limitation, contracts with urban renewal 
authorities, nonprofit corporations, and federal, state or local 
agencies; 

 
C. To make and enter into contracts, as deemed appropriate, for goods 

and services, subject to payment from advances, loans, grants or 
contributions made by ꞏthe federal, state, or any local government, funds 
-provided by-either Party, or any other revenues of the Authority; 

 
D. To sue and be sued in the Authority's own name; to adopt and have 



10  

a seal and to alter the same at pleasure. 
 

E. To cooperate with the federal government in all respects 
concerning implementation of the final Army Record of Decision 
concerning the disposal and reuse of Fitzsimons;  

 
F. To make and enter into contracts with agencies or departments of 

the federal government or either Party for the provision of 
caretaker services for all or a portion of Fitzsimons after closure; 
to make and enter into contracts with third parties for the provision 
of such services in relation thereto as deemed appropriate by the 
Authority; 

 
 

G. To hire and fire agents, employees, consultants and professionals 
pursuant to the Bylaws and any adopted Policies of the Authority; 

 
H. To apply to the City to plan. replan, zone, rezone, or subdivide any part 

of the area ꞏwithin which the Authority has jurisdiction in 
connection with any project proposed or undertaken by the 
Authority; 

 
I. To provide for the furnishing of services, privileges, works, streets, 

roads, public utilities, or educational or other facilities for or in 
connection with any project of the Authority; to dedicate property 
acquired or held by it for public works, improvements, facilities, 
utilities, and other public purposes; and to agree, in connection with 
any of its contracts, to any conditions that it deems reasonable and 
appropriate, including but not limited to conditions attached to 
federal financial assistance, and to include in any contract made or 
let in connection with any project of the Authority provisions to 
fulfill such of said conditions as it may deem reasonable and 
appropriate; 

 
J. To fix. maintain, and revise fees, rates, rents, security deposits, and 

charges for functions, services, or facilities provided by the 
Authority; 

 
K. To acquire, construct, reconstruct, repair, maintain, manage, operate, 

lease, sell, convey, or otherwise dispose of real property, buildings, 
works, improvements, or other facilities necessary to carry out the 
purposes of this Agreement; 

 
L. To prepare and implement a compensation, retirement, and 

benefits plan for all employees of the Authority;  
 

M. To prepare and approve an annual operating budget and any 



11  

necessary amended or supplemental budgets, as set forth in Article 
Five of this Agreement, and make appropriations in accordance 
therewith; 

 
N. To adopt and, from time to time, amend and repeal Bylaws and any 

adopted Policies pursuant to Section 2.6 of this Agreement; 
 

O. To enter into agreements with the Parties for the purpose of 
securing any necessary professional, administrative, or support 
services; 

 
P. To keep and maintain adequate financial books and records to 

account for all Authority revenues and expenditures; to obtain an 
annual independent audit conducted by certified public 
accountants selected by the Board of such records; and to submit 
the results of such audit to the Parties; 

 
Q. To adopt a master economic redevelopment plan, which shall be 

updated as the Authority deems necessary; to establish strategies and 
goals for promoting and marketing redevelopment of Fitzsimons and 
securing development commitments within the service area of the 
Authority; 

 
R. To apply for and accept advances, grants, loans or contributions 

from any natural person, public or private corporation or 
organization, or the federal, state or any local government, or any 
department, instrumentality, or agency thereof, for the purpose of 
financing its activities; 

S. To adopt financial and investment policies and invest any moneys of 
the Authority which are available for investment in accordance with 
the laws of the State of Colorado, including Articles 10.5 and 47 of 
Title 11, and Article 75, Part 6 of Title 24, C.R.S., governing the 
deposit and investment of public funds by public entities; 
 

T. To issue revenue bonds in accordance with Section 5.6 of this 
Agreement; 

 
U. To issue notes, warrants, certificates of indebtedness, or other 

evidences of the advancement of moneys and, in connection 
therewith, to pledge any security therefor as may be authorized by 
law; 

 
V. To enter into lease-purchase agreements and issue certificates of 

participation therein.in accordance. with Section 29-1-103, C.R.S., as 
amended; 

 
W. To insure against all or any part of the Authority's liability or the 



12  

liability of any of the Authority's employees acting within the scope 
of their employment for an injury for which the Authority or its 
employees might be liable, and against the expense of defending a 
claim for injury against the Authority or the Authority's 
employees, whether or not liability exists on such claim, all in 
accordance with Section 24-10-115, C.R.S., as amended; 

 
X. To participate in all types of development ventures related to the 

purposes of the Authority, with public and private persons and 
entities including, without limitation, the formation of general and 
limited partnerships, limited liability companies, corporations, and 
other business entities; 

 
Y. Through its employees, officers, board members, or Executive 

Committee, to cause the incorporation of for-profit or non-profit 
corporations or other business entities incident to the accomplishment of 
the purposes hereof; and 

 
Z. To take all actions necessary or appropriate to carry out and 

implement the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

AA. To mortgage or pledge all or any portion of the real or personal property 
of the Authority, whether then owned or thereafter acquired, for the 
benefit of the holders of bonds, notes or other obligations issued by the 
Authority. 

 
BB. To lend all or any portion of the proceeds of any revenue bonds issued 

by the Authority to any person or entity for the purpose of financing all 
or any portion of the cost of acquiring, constructing and completing any 
facility, work or undertaking deemed necessary or appropriate by the 
Authority for the accomplishment of the purposes of this Agreement and 
the redevelopment of Fitzsimons. Such loans may be secured or 
unsecured and, in particular, may be secured by a mortgage or other 
encumbrance upon the assets, properties or undertakings financed in 
whole or in part with the proceeds of any issue of revenue bonds.  

 
CC. Any revenue bonds issued in accordance with Section 5 .6 of this 

Agreement may be issued to finance any project or undertaking deemed 
necessary or appropriate by the Authority for the accomplishment of the 
purposes of this Agreement and the redevelopment of Fitzsimons. 
Nothing set forth in this Agreement shall require that title to any facility, 
work or undertaking financed by the Authority be transferred to the City 
prior to the dissolution of the Authority, and the Authority is specifically 
authorized to finance undertakings or improvements to be owned by the 
Authority or by any other person or entity, if deemed necessary and 
appropriate by the Authority for the accomplishment of the purposes of 
the Agreement and the redevelopment of Fitzsimons. 



13  

 
3.3 Prohibited Powers. In determining what implied powers the Authority has 

under Article Three, herein, it shall be clearly understood that the Authority shall not have 
the following powers: 
 

A. Taxation; 
 

B.  Special assessments pursuant to Article 25 of Title 31, C.R.S., as 
amended; 
 

C. Condemnation (eminent domain); 
 

D. Issuance of general obligation debt; 
 

E. Zoning or other governmental powers over land use; 
 

F. Building, fire code, public health and safety regulations; 
 

G. Control and acceptance of public rights of way; and 
 

H. Assignment or delegation of any specific powers, duties, or 
responsibilities imposed by this Agreement except as authorized by 
this Agreement or by the Parties in writing. 

 
3.4 Leases. The Parties anticipate the Authority will enter into interim and long-

term leases for all or a portion of Fitzsimons property and the Authority will sublet all or a 
portion of said leased property to third parties. In such event, any leases or subleases entered 
into by the Authority as lessor shall fully comply with the laws of the United States, the State 
of Colorado, and the Charter or Ordinances of the City of Aurora. 

 
3.5 Spending Authority. In any given fiscal year, the Authority is limited in its 

spending powers toꞏ the total annual and supplemental budgets adopted by the Board. 
Annual expenditures shall not exceed amounts appropriated by the Board from all 
revenues for such year plus beginning unreserved cash balances. 

 
ARTICLE FOUR 

PERSONNEL 
 

 4.1 Executive officer of the Authority.. The Board shall appoint an executive officer of 
the Authority by a vote of two thirds of the Board who shall be the chief executive and operating 
officer for the Authority. The executive officer of the Authority shall have such title, executive 
powers, and duties as are prescribed by the Board. The Board shall set the salary and benefits of 
the executive officer and shall annually review the performance of the executive officer. The 
executive officer shall serve at the pleasure of the Board and may be removed by a vote of two 
thirds of the Board. Upon resignation or removal of the executive officer, notice shall be provided 
to the Parties. The executive officer of the Authority shall serve as an ex-officio member and 
officer of the Board and may be an employee of the Authority. The executive officer of the 



14  

Authority shall have no voting rights and shall not be counted to constitute a quorum. 
 

4.2 Liability. Any liability or other financial obligation relating to the activities of the 
Authority which is incurred or caused by the executive officer of the Authority or any employee 
or agent of the Authority within the scope of his or her employment and during the performance 
of his or her duties as approved or delegated by the Authority Board shall be exclusively the 
responsibility of the Authority. 
 

4.3 Administrative Services.  The Authority may contract with either Party, or both, 
for the provision of financial, personnel, and other administrative services. 

 
4.4 Compliance with Law. The Authority shall comply with all applicable federal, 

state, and local law relating to employment standards and practices, including those pertaining 
to equal employment opportunity and nondiscrimination. The Authority shall maintain such 
levels of workers' compensation coverage as mandated by state law. 

 
4.5 Indemnification of Directors, Officers, and Employees.  The Authority shall, to 

the extent permitted and within the requirements of and without waiving the provisions of the 
Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, indemnify and defend its directors, officers, and 
employees. 

 
4.6 Conflicts of Interest. 

 
1.  No person serving as a director, officer, or employee of the Authority 

shall: 
 

A.   Hold any financial or other personal interest in any 
contract of the Authority as defined by Section 24-18-102, 
C.R.S., as may be amended from time to time; 
 

B.  Be a purchaser or lessee, or act as an agent for anyone 
other than the Authority, with regard to any sales or 
leases of real or personal property under the jurisdiction 
of the Authority; 

 
C. Acquire or hold, directly or indirectly, any financial or 

personal interest in any business or undertaking which 
that person- has reason to believe may be substantially 
benefited by any action taken by the Authority; 

 
D.  Disclose or use any confidential information acquired 

in the course of that person's official duties in order to 
further substantially that person’s financial or personal 
interest; 

 
E. Accept a gift of substantial value or a substantial 

economic benefit tantamount to a valuable gift which 



15  

would tend improperly, or could be reasonably 
perceived, to influence that person to depart from the 
faithful and impartial discharge of that person’s public 
duties; or   

 
F. Undertake or fail to undertake any action in that person’s 

official capacity which would create an appearance of 
impropriety or unethical conduct on the part of that 
person. 

 
2. "Personal interest" under this Section would include interests held by 

members of one's immediate family or one's business partners, 
employer, or corporation or other business in which one or one's 
immediate family owns or controls an interest or from which one 
or one's immediate family receives a substantial financial benefit. 
“Immediate family” means persons related by blood, marriage, or 
adoption. 
 

3.  In the event that a director, officer, or employee should have any reason 
to believe that an actual or potential conflict of interest exists, the nature 
of such interest or conflict shall be disclosed. Employees of the Authority 
shall make such disclosures to the executive officer of the Authority. Any 
member of the Board and the executive officer of the Authority shall 
make such disclosures to the Board of Directors.  If the Board 
determines that there is an actual or potential conflict of interest, the 
director, officer, or employee will be recused from all discussion and 
decision making in the matter.  The recused director, officer, or employee 
will not count toward the quorum.  The Board shall have the duty to 
take appropriate action necessary to resolve any conflicts in 
accordance with this Section and in a manner to assure that the 
confidence of the Parties and the public in the Authority is 
maintained. 

 
4.  Failure by a director, officer, or employee of the Authority to 

disclose properly and timely any conflict described under this 
Section shall be grounds for immediate removal or dismissal of 
that person from his or her official duties. 
 

ARTICLE FIVE 
BUDGETS/FUNDING/DEBT 

 
5.1 Annual Budget..  The Board shall adopt a budget for the Authority, which budget 

shall conform with the requirements of the Local Government Budget Law of Colorado, Section 
29-1 101, et seq., C.R.S., as amended. No later than October 15 of each year, or such other 
deadline as may be required by the Local Government Budget Law, the executive officer of the 
Authority shall submit to the Board a proposed annual budget for the next fiscal. 
 



16  

5.2 Transfers. If, after adopting the annual budget, the Board deems it necessary, 
it may transfer appropriated moneys between funds or between spending agencies within a 
fund, as determined by the original appropriation level. 
 

5.3 Supplemental Budget. If, after adopting the annual budget, the Authority 
receives unanticipated revenues or revenues not assured at the time of the adoption of the 
annual budget from any source, the Board may authorize the expenditure of such funds by 
enacting a supplemental budget and appropriation, subject to review by and comment from 
the Parties. 

 
5.4 Books and Records. The Authority shall provide for the keeping of accurate 

and correct books of account on an accrual basis in accordance with the Local Government 
Uniform Accounting Law,. Section 29-1-501, et seq., C.R.S. as amended, and generally 
accepted government accounting principles. Such books shall show, in detail. a cash flow 
analysis, capital costs, costs of special services, maintenance and operating costs, and all 
financial transactions of the Authority. In addition to the requirements set forth in Section 
29-1-501, et seq., C.RS., the Authority's books of account shall correctly show any and all 
revenues, costs, expenses, or charges paid from or to be paid by moneys obtained from 
federal, state, or local grants, the Parties, private contributions, or revenues generated by the 
Authority's activities. The Parties shall have the right to examine the books and records of 
the Authority at reasonable times until the expiration of three (3) years after the Authority 
discontinues operations or ceases to exist. The Board shall provide for the auditing of all 
books and accounts and other financial records of the Authority on an annual basis in 
accordance with the Colorado Local Government Audit Law, Section 29-1-601, et seq., 
C.RS., as amended, by an independent certified public accountant selected by the Board. 
The audit shall be completed within six (6) months after the close of the fiscal year. The 
audit shall be presented to the Parties no later than thirty (30) days after receipt of the audit 
report by the Board. 
 

 
5.5 Revenue Bonds. 

 
1. Subject to the prior approval of the Parties, the Authority may, from 

time to time, issue revenue bonds for any of its corporate purposes. The 
bonds shall be issued pursuant to a written resolution approved by the 
Board and shall be payable solely out of all or a specified portion of the 
revenues of the Authority as designated by the Board and shall be payable 
solely out of all or a specified portion of the revenues of the Authority as 
designated by the Board. 

 
2. Revenue bonds of the Authority, as provided in the resolution of the Board 

under which the bonds are authorized, or as provided in a trust indenture 
between the Authority and any commercial or trust company having full 
trust powers, may: 

 
A.  Be executed and delivered by the Authority in the form, 

in denominations, upon the terms and maturities, and 



17  

at the times established by the Board; 
 
B. Be subject to optional or mandatory redemption prior to 

maturity with or without a premium; 
 

C. Be in fully registered form or bearer form registerable 
as to principal or interest or both; 

D.  Bear such conversion privileges and be payable in such 
installments and at such times not exceeding thirty (30) 
years from the date of issuance as established by the 
Board; 

 
E. Be payable at such place or places whether within or 

without the state as established by the Board; 
 

F. Bear interest at such rate or rates per annum, which 
may be fixed or vary according to index, procedure, or 
formula or as determined by the Authority or its agents; 

 
G. Be subject to purchase at the option of the holder or the 

Board; 
 

H.  Be evidenced in the manner established by the Board, 
.and executed by the members of the Board, including the 
use of one or more facsimile signatures which may be 
either of a member of the Board or of an authorized agent 
authenticating the same; 

 
I. Contain any other provisions not inconsistent with this 

Agreement. 
 

3. The revenue bonds may be sold at public or private sale at the price or 
prices, in the manner, and at the times as determined by the Board, and 
the Board may pay all fees, expenses, and commissions which it deems 
necessary or advantageous in connection with the sale of the bonds. The 
power to fix the date of sale of the bonds, to receive bids or proposals, 
to award and sell bonds, to fix interest rates, and to take all other action 
necessary to sell and deliver the bonds may be delegated to an officer 
or agent of the Authority. Any outstanding bonds may be refunded by 
the Authority pursuant to Article 56 of Title 11, C.RS., as amended. All 
bonds and any interest coupons applicable thereto are declared to be 
negotiable instruments. 
 

4. The Resolution or Trust Indenture authorizing the issuance of the revenue 
bonds may pledge all or a portion of the property or revenues of the 
Authority, may contain such provisions for protecting and enforcing the 
rights and remedies of holders of any of the bonds as the Authority deems 



18  

appropriate, may set forth the rights and remedies of the holders of any of 
the bonds, and may contain provisions which the Authority deems 
appropriate for the security of the holders of the bonds, including but not 
limited to provisions for letters of credit, insurance, standby credit 
agreements, or other forms of credit ensuring timely payment of the 
bonds, including the redemption price or the purchase price. 

 
5. Any pledge of revenues or property made by the Authority or by any 

person or governmental unit with which the Authority contracts shall 
be valid and binding from the time the pledge is made. The revenues 
or property so pledged shall immediately be subject to the lien of such 
pledge without any physical delivery or further act, and the lien of such 
pledge shall be valid and binding against all parties having claims of any 
kind in tort, contract, or otherwise against the pledging party, regardless of 
whether the party has notice of such lien. The instrument by which the 
pledge is created need not be recorded or filed. 

 
6. Neither the members of the Board, employees of the Authority, nor any 

person executing the revenue bonds shall be liable personally on the bonds 
or subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the 
issuance thereof. 

 
 7. The Authority may purchase its revenue bonds out of any available 

funds and may hold, pledge, cancel, or resell such bonds subject to and 
in accordance with agreements with the holders thereof. 

 
ARTICLE SIX 

ASSETS OF THE AUTHORITY 
 

6.1 Ownership Interest in Development Projects. The acquisition of any ownership 
interest in a business entity incident to or in furtherance of the purposes hereof is declared to be a 
redevelopment project of the Authority serving a public purpose, and shall not be construed to be 
subject to any limitation on the investment of public moneys. 
 

6.2  Asset Inventory Schedules. The Authority shall maintain an asset inventory list 
for any and all real or personal property acquired by the Authority by lease, purchase, donation 
or federal conveyance. This list shall designate how the asset was accrued, the date. of 
acquisition, and the date of any sale or other disposition of any asset transferred by the 
Authority, together with the amount of consideration received or paid by the Authority. 
 

ARTICLE SEVEN 
TERMINATION 

 
7.1 Termination by Notice. This Agreement or any renewals thereof may be 

terminated by either of the Parties hereto provided that: 
 
A. The Party intending to terminate this Agreement provides, unless 



19  

otherwise provided herein, at least twelve (12) months’ notice to the 
other, and 

 
B. The effective date of termination shall be on December 31 of any 

calendar year, provided said termination shall be no sooner than six 
(6) months after service of the written notice of termination; 
provided, however, that the Agreement may not be terminated so 
long as the Authority has bonds, notes, or other obligations 
outstanding, unless provision for full payment thereof by escrow or 
otherwise has been made pursuant to the terms of such obligations. 

 
7.2 Assets. Upon the dissolution of the Authority, after the payment of lawful 

debts and other encumbrances thereon, title to all public improvements financed by the 
issuance of Authority obligations shall vest in the City. Title to all other assets shall vest 
in the City or in the Regents respectively to the extent that each Party made a direct 
contribution to the acquisition or construction thereof; otherwise, title to such assets shall 
vest in the City. 

 
7.3 Wind-up and Liquidation. In the event of termination of this Agreement, the 

Board shall wind-up and liquidate the assets of the Authority. In addition, any debts of 
the Authority shall not constitute the debt or financial obligation of the Parties or become the 
responsibility of the Parties. 

ARTICLE EIGHT 
JURISDICTION  

 
8.l Governmental Authority. The Parties acknowledge that 100% of the land 

comprising the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Area is located within the boundaries of the City 
of Aurora; therefore, the City shall be responsible for exercising municipal powers over all 
property within the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Area; provided, however, that nothing in this 
Agreement shall be deemed to supersede any governmental powers possessed by the United 
States, the State of Colorado, or any of their respective political subdivisions with respect to 
property owned by any such entity within the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Area. 

 
ARTICLE NINE 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 

9.1 Notices.  Any notice required hereunder shall be given in writing delivered 
personally or sent by registered mail, postage prepaid, and addressed to the Parties set forth 
below at the addresses on file with the Authority or at such address as either Party may hereafter 
from time to time designate by written notice to the Authority. Notice shall be considered given 
when personally delivered or mailed, and shall be considered received on the earlier of the day 
on which such notice is actually received by the Party to whom it is addressed or the third day 
after such notice is mailed. 

 
 City:   City of Aurora, Colorado 
    Attn: Mayor  
 



20  

 Regents:  University of Colorado  
    Attn:  Vice Chancellor for Administration and Finance

9.2 Consent. Whenever any provision of this Agreement requires consent or 
approval of the Parties hereto, the same shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
9.3 Amendments. No alterations, amendments or modifications hereof shall be 

valid unless executed by an instrument in writing by the parties with the same formality as this 
Agreement. Neither this Agreement, nor any term hereof, can be changed, modified, or 
abandoned, in whole or in part, except by the instrument in writing, and no prior, contemporary, 
or subsequent oral agreement shall have any validity whatsoever. 
 

9.4 Severability. If any clause or provision herein contained shall be adjudged 
to be invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction or by operation of any 
applicable law, such invalid or unenforceable clause or provision shall not affect the 
validity of the Agreement as a whole and all other clauses or provisions shall be given full 
force and effect. 

 
9.5 Binding Effect. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and 

shall inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and to their respective successors and 
permitted assigns. 

 
9.6 Assignment and Delegation. Neither Party shall assign any of the rights nor 

delegate any of the duties by this Agreement without the written consent of the other Party. 
 
9.7 Applicable Laws. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Colorado. 
 
9.8 Paragraph Headings. The paragraph headings are inserted herein only as 

a matter of convenience and for reference and in no way are intended to be a part of the 
Agreement or to define, limit, or describe the scope or intent of this Agreement or the 
particular paragraphs hereof to which they refer. 

 
9.9  Singular and Plural. Whenever the context shall so require, the singular 

shall include the plural and the plural shall include the singular. 
 
9.10 No Discrimination in Employment. In connection with the performance of 

work under this Agreement, the Authority shall not refuse to hire, discharge, promote or 
demote, or to discriminate in matters of compensation against any person otherwise qualified, 
solely because of race, color, religion, national origin, gender, age, military status, marital 
status, or physical or mental disability. The Authority shall comply with all applicable local, 
state and federal laws with regard to non-discrimination. 

 
9.11 No Obligation of the Parties. Neither Party shall bear any responsibility nor 

incur any liability whatsoever for the acts, errors or omissions of the Authority. Each and 
every lease, contract, or other instrument creating any obligation of the Authority shall 
expressly provide that the Authority's obligations thereunder shall not be deemed to also 



 

be those of the City or the Regents. 
 

9.12 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which 
shall be deemed to be an original, hut all of which shall together constitute one and the same 
document. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be 

executed as of the day and year first herein above written. 
 

ATTEST:      CITY OF AURORA, COLORADO 
 
 
By:        By:      
      KADEE RODRIGUEZ         MIKE COFFMAN, MAYOR 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By:      
     XX 
     ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
APPROVED:      REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF 
       COLORADO 
 
By:        By:      
 

 
 



 
 
 
 

BYLAWS OF THE FITZSIMONS REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 

Article I. Authority. 

1.1. Establishment. The Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority (the "Authority'') is 
established pursuant to Article XIV, Sections 18(2)(a) and (b) of the Colorado Constitution and 
Section 29-1-203 of the Colorado Revised Statutes as a separate public entity to provide the functions, 
services, and facilities authorized  by  the  Amended and Restated Intergovernmental  Agreement  
establishing the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority between the City of  Aurora,  Colorado,  and  
the Board  of Regents of the University of Colorado (the "Intergovernmental Agreement"). 

 
1.2.      Enactment.  These bylaws are enacted pursuant to the power granted to the Board of 

Directors of the Authority by Section 2.6 of the Intergovernmental Agreement. In the event of any 
conflict between these bylaws and the Intergovernmental Agreement, the Intergovernmental 
Agreement shall control. 

 
 

Article II. Purpose, 

The purpose of the Authority is to provide necessary and incidental ownership, management, 
maintenance, and economic redevelopment services and improvements within the Fitzsimons 
Redevelopment Area, as such purpose is more particularly described in Section 1.3 of the 
Intergovernmental Agreement. 

 
 

Article III. Offices, 
 

The principal office of the Authority shall be located on the site of the former Fitzsimons 
Army Medical Center. The Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to relocate the 
principal office and establish and maintain branch or subordinate offices at any other locations within 
the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Area. 

 
 

Article IV. Board of Directors. 

4.1. General Powers and Duties. The governing body of the Authority shall be its Board 
of Directors (the "Board"). The Board shall have all of the powers and duties set forth in the 
Intergovernmental Agreement. 

 
4.2. Rules and Regulations Policies. By a majority vote of two-thirds of the Directors on 

the Board, the Board shall adopt such Rules and Regulations Policies as may be necessary for the 
conduct of the Authority, provided, however, that such Rules and Regulations  Policies shall not be 
in conflict with any of the provisions of the Intergovernmental Agreement. 



2  

 

4.3. Number, Appointment. and Tenure Of Directors. The Board shall consist of nine 
thirteen Directors, who shall be appointed in accordance with Section 2.1 of the Intergovernmental 
Agreement. The term of office of each Director shall be as prescribed in Section 2.3 of the 
Intergovernmental Agreement. 

 
4.4. Ex-Officio Board Members, The Eexecutive Director officer of the Authority shall be an 

ex-officio member of the Board. In addition, the Board may appoint ex-officio members of the Board as is 
deemed necessary.  Ex-officio Board members shall not have voting rights and shall not be counted to 
constitute a quorum. 

 
4.5. Regular Meetings. The Board shall conduct a regular meeting at least once each month 

at such place as may be designated by the Board.  Any regular meeting may be canceled by a simple 
majority vote of the Board for any reason or by the Chairperson for good cause. 

4.6. Special Meetings. The Board may conduct special meetings as deemed necessary and 
appropriate upon the call of the Chairperson or any three Directors by giving verbal, telephonic, or 
written notice of the time and place of such meeting to each Board member at least 72 hours prior to the 
meeting. Special meetings shall be conducted at such place as designated by the Chairperson or those 
Directors calling the meeting. 

 
4.7. Executive Sessions. The Board, upon the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the quorum 

present, may hold an executive session at any regular or special meeting for any of the purposes authorized 
by the Colorado Open Meetings Law, Section 24-6-401, et seq. C.R.S. No adoption of any proposed policy, 
position, resolution, rule, regulation, or formal action shall occur at any executive session which is not 
open to the public. 

  
4.7.4.8. Attendance.  Directors are expected to attend all regular and special meetings and actively 

participate on the Board.  A Director may be excused from a meeting for good cause at the Chair’s 
discretion where a request is received within a reasonable time in advance of the meeting.  Directors may 
participate in a regular or special meeting through the use of conference telephone or other 
communications equipment serving a similar purpose, so long as all members participating in such 
meeting can converse with one another at the same time.  Participation includes voting. 

 
4.8.4.9. Notice, All regular and special meetings held by the Board or any subcommittees thereof 

where Authority business is discussed or at which formal action may be taken shall be open to the public 
and subject to the Colorado Open Meetings Law, Section 24-6-401, et seq. C.R.S. Notice of all regular 
and special meetings of the Authority shall include an agenda, board packet, minutes, and other 
materials to be considered at the meeting and shall be posted on the Authority website, the City of 
Aurora website, and  at a designated public place designated by the Board located within the Authority 
no less than 2472 hours prior to the meeting. 

 
4.9.4.10. Conduct of Meetings. All regular and special meetings held by the Board shall be 

conducted in accordance with established rules of parliamentary procedure.  The Board shall use as 
its guide for parliamentary procedure the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised. 

4.10.4.11. Minutes, The Board shall keep comprehensive minutes of its proceedings 
showing the presence or absence of each member and the vote of each member upon every motion.  
Any failure to vote or abstention shall be noted in the minutes. 

 



3  

4.11.4.12. Open Records. The minutes and records of the Board shall be open to the 
public and subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, Section 24-72-201, et seq. C.R.S. 



4  

 

4.13. Quorum, A quorum of the Board shall consist of five seven Directors. No official 
action may be taken by the Board on any matter unless a quorum is present. Any member present 
who shall abstain from any vote or discussion for any reason, including such member's conflict of 
interest on any matter, shall be counted in determining the presence of a quorum. 

4.12.4.14. Voting.  The voting on all questions before the Board shall be by voice or by 
show of hands unless a roll call vote is requested by any Director of the Board or required by law.  
The yes votes, no votes, and abstentions shall be entered in the minutes of each meeting.  Every 
Director, when present at a meeting, must vote unless excused from voting on matters involving the 
consideration of his or her own official conduct or when his or her personal or financial interest is 
involved.  Any Director must state at the time of the abstention the reason for abstention. 

4.13.4.15. Decisions of the Board. Each member of the Board shall have one vote. The act 
of the majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the 
Board. All resolutions of the Board shall be reduced to writing and shall be recorded in the official minutes 
of the Authority. 

4.14.4.16. Resignation and Removal. Any Director may resign at any time by giving 
written notice to the City of Aurora, the Board of Regents, and the Chairperson of the Board. Each 
resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein. 
Unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of a resignation is not necessary to make it 
effective. Any Director may be removed at any time, with or without cause, as provided in Section 2.4 
of the Intergovernmental Agreement. Upon the expiration of a Director's term, or upon his or her 
death, removal, resignation, or disability, such Director or his or her executor or personal 
representative shall turn over to the Chairperson all records or other property of the Authority which 
may be in his or her possession. 

4.15.4.17. Vacancies. As members' terms expire, new members shall be appointed to the 
Board in accordance with Section 2.3 of the Intergovernmental Agreement. Vacancies shall be filled 
for the unexpired term of any Board member whose position becomes vacant in accordance with 
Section 2.4 of the Agreement. 

 
4.16.4.18. Compensation and Reimbursement. Directors shall serve without compensation 

for their services but may be reimbursed for actual and reasonable expenses they incur in serving on the 
Board. The written approval of the Chairperson shall be required in order to reimburse a Director for actual 
and reasonable expenses, including, but not limited to travel, telephone, and postage fees.  No mileage or 
expense in excess of $____ shall be paid to any Director unless pre-authorized by the Board of Directors.  
Mileage, when paid, shall be at the rate of $0.__ per mile. 

 
 

Article V. Officers. 

5.1. Officers of the Board. The Board shall elect a Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, and 
Secretary/Treasurer from its members. The election of officers shall take place annually at the first 
regular meeting of the calendar year for a two-year term. Each officer shall hold office until his or 
her successor shall have been duly elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier death, removal, 
resignation, or disability. 

 
5.2. Resignation and Removal Any Officer may resign at any time by giving written notice 

to the Chairperson of the Board.  Each resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or 



5  

at any later time specified therein. Unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of a resignation is not 
necessary to make it effective. Any Officer may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by simple 
majority vote of the Board.  Upon death, removal, resignation, or disability of an Officer, such Officer, 
or his or her executor or personal representative shall turn over to the Chairperson all records or other 
property of the Authority which may be in his or her possession.



6  

 
5.3. Vacancies. A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board for the 

unexpired portion of the term. 
 

5.4 Chairperson. The Chairperson shall preside over all Board meetings and 
sign all contracts or agreements on behalf of the Authority, except contracts or agreements 
which may be signed by officers delegated that responsibility by the Board or by the 
Intergovernmental Agreement, and, in general, shall perform all duties incident to the office 
of Chairperson and such other duties as may be authorized by the Board from time to time. 

 

5.5 Vice Chairperson. In the absence of the Chairperson or in the event of his 
or her death or inability to act, the Vice Chairperson shall perform all of the duties of the 
Chairperson and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the 
restrictions upon the Chairperson. The Vice Chairperson shall perform such other duties as 
may be authorized by the Board,  from time to time, the bylaws, or the provisions of the 
Intergovernmental Agreement. 

5.6 Secretary/Treasurer. The Secretary/Treasurer shall (a) see that the minutes 
of the meetings of the Board are kept in one or more books provided for that purpose; (b) 
see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws  or  the 
Intergovernmental Agreement; (c) attest to all contracts or agreements signed by the 
Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, or other officers or employees of the Authority, except 
contracts or agreements which may be attested to by officers delegated that responsibility 
by the Board or by the Intergovernmental Agreement; (d) have charge of and be responsible 
for all funds of the Authority; (e) see that the financial books and records of the Authority 
are kept and maintained; and (f) in general, shall perform all duties incident to the office of 
Secretary/Treasurer and such other duties as may be authorized by the Board, the bylaws, 
or the provisions of the Intergovernmental Agreement. from time to time. 

 
5.7. Assistant Secretary/Treasurer, The eExecutive Director Officer of the 

Authority shall serve as the Assistant Secretary/Treasurer and shall provide staff support and 
perform such functions as may be authorized or delegated by the Board, the bylaws, or the 
provisions of the Intergovernmental Agreement.. 

 
5.8. Compensation and Reimbursement. The Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, 

and the Secretary/Treasurer shall serve without compensation for their services but may be 
reimbursed for actual expenses they incur in serving as Officers of the Authority as provided 
for in Section 4.13 of these Bylaws. 

 
 

Article VI. Committees. 

6.1. Committees of Directors, The Board, by resolution adopted by a majority of 
the Directors on the Board, may designate and appoint one or more committees, each of 
which shall consist of two or more Directors. Such committees, to the extent provided in the 
resolution, shall have and exercise the authority of the Board in the management of the 
Authority; provided, however, that no such Committee shall have authority of the Board in 



7  

reference to (a) amending, altering, restating, or repealing these Bylaws or any rules or 
regulations of the Authority; (b) electing, appointing, or removing any member of the 
committee or any Director or Officer of the Authority; (c) authorizing the sale, lease, 
exchange, or mortgage of all or substantially all of the property and assets of the Authority; 
or (d) amending, altering, or repealing any resolution of the Board. The designation and 
appointment of any such committee and the delegation thereto of authority shall not operate 
to relieve the Board, or any individual Director or Officer, of any responsibility imposed 
upon it or him or her by the Intergovernmental Agreement or otherwise by law. 

 

6.2. Advisory Committees. Advisory committees not having and exercising the 
authority of the Board in the management of the Authority may be appointed in such manner 
as designated by resolution adopted by a simple majority vote of Board. Except as otherwise 
provided in the resolution, the Board shall appoint the members of each such committee. 
Any member thereof may be removed by the person or persons authorized to appoint such 
members with or without cause. Members of an advisory committee need not be members 
of the Board.  Such advisory committees may address specific sectors or interests such as 
housing/residential issues, community engagement, and outreach.   

 
6.3. Term of Office.  Each member of a committee shall continue as such until 

his or her successor is appointed, unless and until the committee is sooner terminated, the 
member is removed from such committee, or the member is no longer qualified to serve as 
a member of such committee. 

 
6.4. Chairperson. One member of each committee shall be appointed Chairperson 

by the person or persons authorized to appoint the members thereof. 
 

ꞏ 6.5. Vacancies, Vacancies in the membership for any committee may be filled by 
appointments made in the same manner as provided in the case of the original appointments. 

 
6.6. Quorum. Unless otherwise provided in the resolution of the Board 

designating the committee, a majority of the committee membership shall constitute a 
quorum and the act of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is 
present shall be the act of the committee. 

 
6.7. Rules. Each committee may adopt rules for its proceedings not inconsistent 

with these Bylaws or with any rules or regulations adopted by the Board. 
 

6.8. Open Meetings. All regular and special meetings held by any committee of 
Directors or any advisory committee where public business is discussed or at which formal action 
may be taken shall be open to the public as required by the Colorado Open Meetings Law, 
Section 24-6-401, et seq. C.R.S. 

6.9. Open Records, Each committee of Directors or advisory committee shall 
keep minutes of its proceedings. Minutes and records of each such committee shall be open 
to the public as required by the Colorado Open Records Ac4 Section 24-72-201, et seq. 
C.R.S. 

 
 

Article VII. Executive Director officer. 



8  

7.1. Appointment. The Eexecutive Director officer shall be appointed by the 
Board in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.1 of the Intergovernmental 
Agreement. 

 
7.2. Powers and Duties, The Eexecutive Director officer shall be the chief 

operating officer for the Authority and shall have such executive powers and duties as prescribed 
by the Board, including the hiring, supervising, and directing of employees and staff of the 
Authority, the conduct of the daily management of the Authority's business affairs, and the 
responsibility for executing all orders of the Board. 

7.3. Removal. Subject to the terms of his or her employment contract and in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 4.1 of the Intergovernmental Agreement, the 
eExecutive Director officer may be removed by the Board whenever, in the Board's 
judgment the best interests of the Authority would be served thereby. 

 
 

Article VIII. Conduct of Business, 

8.1. Annual Budget. The Board shall adopt an annual budget for the next fiscal 
year. The budget shall be prepared on a cash basis and conform with the requirements of the 
Local Government Budget Law of Colorado, Section 29-1-101 et seq. C.R.S., as amended, 
and Article V of the Intergovernmental Agreement. 

 
8.2. Books and Records. The Board shall provide for the keeping of accurate and 

correct books of account on an accrual basis and in accordance with the Local Government 
Uniform Accounting Law, Section 29-1-501, et seq.., C.R.S., as amended, and Section 5.4 of the 
Intergovernmental Agreement. 

 
8.3. Audit of Books and Records, The Board shall provide for the auditing of all 

books and accounts and other financial records of the Authority on an annual basis in 
accordance with the Colorado Local Government Audit Law, Section 29-1-601 et seq. 
C.R.S., as amended, and Section 5.4 of the Intergovernmental Agreement. 

 
8.4. Contracts, The Board may authorize the Eexecutive Director officer to enter 

into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the 
Authority except in those instances where such power is expressly rese1Ved for the Board by 
the Intergovernmental Agreement. Such authority may be general or confined to specific 
instances. 

 

8.5. Checks, Drafts or Orders. All checks, drafts, or orders for the payment of 
money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Authority shall be 
signed by such officers or agents of the Authority and in such manner as shall from time to time 
be determined by resolution of the Board. In the absence of such determination by the Board, 
such instruments shall be signed by the Secretary/Treasurer or Assistant Secretary/Treasurer, and 
if any such instrument is in excess of $1,000, it shall be countersigned by the Chairperson or Vice 
Chairperson of the Authority. 

8.6. Gifts. The Board may accept on behalf of the Authority any contribution, 



9  

gift, bequest, or devise for the general purposes or for any special purpose of the Authority. 
 

8.7. Deposits. All funds of the Authority not otherwise employed shall be 
deposited from time to time to the credit of the Authority in such banks or other depositories 
as the Board may select. 

 
8.8. Financial Investment Policies, The Board shall adopt financial investment 

policies for the Authority. The Board shall invest moneys which are available for investment in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado, including Section 24-75-601, et seq.., C.R.S., 
as amended, governing the investment of public funds by public entities. 

 
8.9. Spending Authority. The Authority is limited in its spending powers by 

its annual total budget and any supplemental budget approved by the Board. Annual 
expenditures shall not exceed actual revenues for the year plus beginning unreserved 
cash balances. 

 
8.10. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Authority shall be a calendar year. 

 
 

Article IX. Indemnification. 

To the extent permitted and within the requirements of the Colorado Governmental 
Immunity Act, Section 24-10-101, et seq., C.R.S., if any director, officer, or employee of the 
Authority is made a party to or is involved in any proceeding because he or she is or was a 
director, officer, or employee of the Authority. the Authority shall indemnify such individual 
from and against any judgments, penalties, fines, amounts paid in settlement, and reasonable 
expenses incurred by such individual in such proceeding so long as the claim arises out of 
injuries sustained from an act or omission of such individual during the performance of his 
or her duties and within the scope of his or her employment, except where such act or 
omission is willful and wanton. For purposes of this Section, the term "proceeding" means 
any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding under federal or state law, 
whether civil, administrative or investigative, and whether formal or informal, which lies in 
tort or could lie in tort regardless of the type of action chosen by the claimant, but excluding 
any criminal prosecution. 

 
 

Article X  
 

The Authority seal shall be in such form as shall be approved by resolution of the 
Board. Said seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed, affixed, 
or reproduced. The impression of the seal may be made and attested by either the 
Secretary/Treasurer or Assistant Secretary/Treasurer for the authentication of contracts or 
other papers requiring the seal. 

 
 

Article XI. Conflict of Interest. 



10 

No member of the Board or any committee of the Authority shall vote on matters in 
which such person has a financial or other personal interest as defined by Section 24-18-
102, C.R.S., as amended. All Directors, committee members, and officers and employees of 
the Authority shall subscribe to and abide by the conflicts of interest provisions set forth in 
Section 4.6 of the Intergovernmental Agreement. 

 
 

Article XII. Amendments. 

These Bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed and new Bylaws may be 
adopted by a vote of two-thirds of the Directors on the Board. 

 
 

Article XIII. Severability. 

If any one or more of the provisions of these bylaws, or the applicability of any 
provision to a specific situation, shall be held invalid or unenforceable by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the provision shall be modified to the minimum extent necessary 
to make it or its application avail and enforceable, and the validity and enforceability of 
all other provisions of these bylaws and all other applications of any provision shall not 
be affected thereby. 

 
 
 

ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Fitzsimons Redevelopment 
Authority this ________________day of 
_________________________________________. 

 



Page 1 of 1 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Design Review Board 

Contact Information 
 

 

Peter Park (Board Chairman) 

Peter J. Park LLC 

4111 E 18th Avenue 

Denver, CO 80220 

Phone: 303.378.4810 

Email:  peter@peterpark-planning.com 

 

Apil Giles (Board Member) 

Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority 

12635 E Montview Blvd, Ste.100 

Aurora, CO 80045 

Phone: 720.859.4115 

Email:  agiles@fitzsimonsinnovation.com 

 

 

Aja Tibbs (Board Member) 

City of Aurora 

15151 E Alameda Pkwy, 2nd Floor 

Aurora, CO 80012 

Phone: 303.739.7227 

Email: atibbs@auroragov.org 

 

 

Ken Andrews (Board Member) 

Arch 11 Incorporated 

1200 Bannock Street 

Denver, CO 80204 

Phone: 303 546 6868 

Email: kandrews@arch11.com 

 

Andre Vite (Board Member) 

University of Colorado at Health Sciences Center 

13001 E 17th Pl 

Aurora, CO 80045 

Phone: 303.724.5888 

Email: andre.vite@cuanschutz.edu 

 

 

Kathleen Fogler (Board Member) 

Tryba Architects 

1620 Logan Street 

Denver, CO 80203 

Phone: 303.831.4010 

Email: kfogler@trybaarchitects.com 

 

William Wenk (Board Member) 

Wenk Associates 

1130 31st St, Ste. 101 

Denver, CO 80205 

Phone: (303) 628-0003 

Email: bwenk@wenkla.com 

 

Ryan Shaaban (Board Administrator) 

Tryba Architects 

1620 Logan Street 

Denver, CO 80203 

Phone: 303.831.4010 

Email: rshaaban@trybaarchitects.com 

 



Board Agenda Item # 10 

 

Board Recommendation / Resolution for the FRA Board of Directors, for Approval of an additional 
$152,880.00 for the TYBA Master Plan Update Contract, Phase 2, for Infrastructure, Drainage, and 
Traffic Planning Consultants.   

 

TRYBA has received bids from the respective consultants for this work and is now in final negotiations.   

TRYBA Contract to date: 

 Phase 1:  $240,850  Completed 
 Phase 2:  $464,300 In-Progress (includes Consultant funding of $105,000) 

Additional Consultant Funding Requested:  $152,880      

Total with Consultant Additional funding:  $858,030  

 

Request Board Approval for additional consultant funding for the TRYBA contract in the amount of 
$152,880, to support the FRA/FIC Master Plan update project.   

   

 
Lyle R. Artz 
Site Manager 
Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority 
 

 

Approved by Board Vote on _______________________________ 

 

 

Board President: ________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Board Secretary: _________________________________________________________ 



1

Thomas Smith

From: Ryan Shaaban <RShaaban@TrybaArchitects.com>
Sent: Monday, April 15, 2024 10:27 AM
To: Lyle Artz; Kathleen Fogler
Subject: RE: Additional consultant $
Attachments: FIC Master Plan Phase 2_Fehr and Peers_Scope and Fee_240401.pdf; FIC Master Plan 

Phase 2_Matrix Engineering_Scope and Fee_240412.pdf

Good Morning Lyle, 
 
Please see the breakdown of the additional fee we are requesting below for Consultant authorization. Our plan is 
to allocate the $35,000 fee within Task 1 – Plan Refinement/GDP Amendment towards the sum of the Mobility and 
Civil Consultant Fee so we can reduce the amount we need authorized from the FRA Board to $152,880. We 
would like to inform you though that the Task 1 Consultant fee was intended for a Landscape/Open Space 
consultant, so as the Open Space develops, we will need to revisit the additional fee for the landscape scope. Our 
plan is that hopefully this scope of work would not exceed $100,000 so we would not need to go back to the FRA 
Board for approval. I have also attached our most current Mobility and Civil proposal for your reference, please let 
me know if you have any questions! 
 
FRA Master Plan Phase 2 Contract 
Task 1 – Plan Refinement/GDP Amendment: $35,000 
Task 2 – Finance: $70,000 
Take 3 – Entitlement / Stakeholder Coordination: $0 
  
Fehr & Peers Mobility Proposal 
Base Services: $97,780 
Additional Services 
Complete Streets Improvements and New Roadways: $7,400 
Shuttle and Microtransit Feasibility: $14,880 
Additional Traffic Data Collection (If Needed): $10,000 
  
Matrix Engineering Civil Proposal (Have not received updated numbers) 
Task 1: Project Management and Meetings : $17,500 + Time and Materials 
Task 2: Master Utility Study Update: $19,000 
Task 3: Master Drainage Study Update: $43,600 
  
Total for Master Plan Phase 2 Consultant Fee: $35,000 
Total for Consultant Proposal Fee: $187,880  
Additional Fee Needed: $152,880 
 
Thanks, 
 
Ryan Shaaban 
Designer 
Email: rshaaban@trybaarchitects.com 
  

 
  
1620 Logan Street 
Denver, CO 80203 



 

Denver       Colorado Springs        Phoenix        Anniston        Atlanta        Omaha        Parsons        Pueblo       Sacramento        Washington, 
D.C. 

 

707 17th Street, Suite 3150 

Denver, Colorado 80202 

303-572-0200 

matrixdesigngroup.com 

 

 

 

April 10, 2024 

 

Ryan Shaaban 

Tryba Architects 

1620 Logan Street 

Denver, CO 80203 

 

Re:  Fitzsimons Innovation Community – Master Utility Study and Master Drainage Study updates 

Design Services Proposal 

 

Dear Ryan: 

 

On behalf of Matrix Design Group (Matrix), thank you for this opportunity to provide you with our 

proposal to provide professional engineering design for the Master Utility Study and Master Drainage 

Study updates at Fitzsimons Innovation Community in Aurora, Colorado.   

 

Project Understanding 

It is our understanding that the General Development Plan is being revised to increase the density of the 

project from low density to medium-high density for a total of about 17M square feet.  This will require 

the Master Utility Study (MUS) and the Master Drainage Study (MDS) to be revised to ensure that the 

surrounding infrastructure has sufficient capacity to support the increased density.   

 

This proposal is for working with Tryba Architects to update the Master Utility Study (MUS) and the 

Master Drainage Study (MDS).  

 

Scope of Services 

Based upon the background information provided to us, Matrix is proposing the following scope of 

services related to preparation of updating the Master Utility Study and Master Drainage Study for the 

project.  

 

Task 1 Project Management and Meetings 

Matrix will participate in meetings and project management as requested by FRA, its Design Team and 

the City of Aurora and their staff to support the update of the MUS and MDS. This task includes internal 

and external to the FRA team meetings and negotiations in support of the MUS and MDS. Anticipated 

meetings include weekly team coordination meetings, City coordination meetings and Client meetings.  

 



Fitzsimons – update to MUS & MDS 

February 8, 2024 

Page 2 

 

www.matrixdesigngroup.com 

We have assumed 100 hours of meeting time and if that amount is exceeded, Matrix will request 

additional fee. 

Estimated Fee: $17,500 (Time and Materials billing for any work within this task) 

 

Task 2 Master Utility Study (MUS) Update 

Matrix will update the approved MUS prepared by Matrix to match the revised land plan uses.  The MUS 

includes the water and wastewater systems.  If the revised land plan exceeds the existing capacity then 

the required improvements will be recommended and the maximum density will be determined based 

on the current infrastructure (no impact solution).   

 

Estimated Fee: $19,000  

 

Task 3 Master Drainage Study (MDS) Update 

Matrix will update the MDS per the revised land plan. Note that the City of Aurora has recently 

published (November 2023) new Storm Drainage Design and Technical Criteria.  Per the meeting held 

with the city on April 4, 2024 Matrix will do a risk analysis to show variances between the 2010 and 2023 

drainage criteria.  The risk analysis will be done with the rational method on a block by block 

comparison.  In areas where the blocks are differing a comparison will not be able to compare to the 

previous MDS but will analyze based on the 2010 and 2023 criteria.   

We have assumed that changes to the existing regional detention pond will not be required and that the 

CUHP and SWMP models will not be update.     

Estimated Fee: $43,600  

Assumptions 

Matix assumes that the MUS and MDS will be updated for the limits of the remaining land plan and that 

existing development will not be re-evaluated based on revised City of Aurora Criteria.   

 

Based on review times from other projects within the City of Aurora, Matrix believes the final approvals 

will be close to 12 months from the notice to proceed.    

 

Exclusions 

Design updates to the existing ponds based on the November 2023 COA Storm Drainage Design and 

Technical Criteria are excluded and will require additional services.   

 



Fitzsimons – update to MUS & MDS 

February 8, 2024 

Page 3 

 

www.matrixdesigngroup.com 

Updates to the CUHP and SWMP models are excluded and will require additional services if required by 

the City of Aurora.   

 

Existing conditions surveys are excluded and will require additional services if required.   

 

Fees 

Matrix proposes to provide the above described scope of services for the following lump sum: 

  

Task 1 Project Management and Meetings            $17,500 T&M 

Task 2 Master Utility Study (MUS) Update    $19,000 LS   

Task 3 Master Drainage Study (MDS) Update    $43,600 LS 

 

Total Fee        $80,100 

 

Matrix Standard Terms and Conditions are attached and shall govern for this contract and any 

subsequent revisions. Rebillables will be charged at cost plus 10%. 

 

We look forward to the opportunity to work with you and the other members of the consultant team.  If 

you should have any questions, please don’t hesitate to contact me at 303-572-0200. 

 

Sincerely, 

MATRIX DESIGN GROUP, INC. 

 

 

Patrick Chelin, PE  

Senior Vice President 

 

 

I have received and read the attached Standard Terms and Conditions and agree to all.  With my 

signature, this proposal for professional services becomes the agreement and is executed and provides 

Matrix Notice to Proceed.  

Date: ________________________________    

Signature: ________________________________  

Name: ________________________________   

Client: ________________________________   



Fitzsimons – update to MUS & MDS 

February 8, 2024 

Page 4 

 

Denver       Colorado Springs        Phoenix        Anniston        Atlanta     Niceville       Parsons        Pueblo       Sacramento        Washington, D.C. 

 

Address: _  __________________________  

City, State, Zip: _______ ___________________ 

Phone:  ________________________________

 



April 1, 2024 
 
 
Kathleen Dahlberg Fogler, AIA, Associate Principal 
Tryba Architects 
1620 Logan Street 
Denver, CO, 80206 
Email: kfogler@trybaarchitects.com  
 
 

Subject:  Scope and Fee for Fitzsimons Innovation Community 2023 Master Plan 

Dear Kathleen:   

Fehr & Peers is pleased to support Tryba Architects and the team on the Fitzsimons Innovation Community 2023 

Master Plan. This letter documents our understanding of the scope and provides a cost proposal for the tasks 

involved to complete the required analysis. 

Sincerely, 

FEHR & PEERS 

 

Ann Bowers, PE, PTOE    Nick VanderKwaak, AICP 
Principal-in-Charge    Senior Associate 

Project Manager 
 

 

P23-022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:kfogler@trybaarchitects.com


  

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Scope and Fee for Fitzsimons Innovation Community 2023 Master Plan  

April 1, 2024 

 
1 

Scope of Work 
Task 0: Project Management & Meetings 

Fehr & Peers will attend development team meetings to understand the needs and issues associated with the 

project. We anticipate staff participation in up to 12 meetings with the design team. We anticipate up to 8 meetings 

with the City of Aurora or other project stakeholders. 

Any additional meetings that Fehr & Peers would be required to attend would be billed on a time and material basis. 

Task 1: Future Background Traffic Volumes 

Fehr & Peers will evaluate and reference the 2023 Master Traffic Impact Study and incorporate changes to the 

surrounding development and transportation network. Changes to the transportation network that are expected 

independent of the proposed development will be described. This includes road widening, new roads, and 

intersection modification. Figures will be developed that show the background volumes at the study intersections 

per phase of the project.  

The background traffic growth for these analysis periods will be based on the data and analysis from the 2023 Master 

Traffic Impact Study.  

Deliverable: Background growth traffic volumes maps and tables 

Task 2: Proposed Project Conditions 

Utilizing our MXD+ tool, Fehr & Peers will estimate project traffic that is likely to be generated by the land use plan.  

This task will include trip generation, trip distribution, and trip assignment per phase and for full buildout. 

Fehr & Peers has conducted hundreds of trip generation surveys throughout the years. However, our largest 

contributions to this realm of transportation planning has been our research on the “D’s” of smart growth and our 

subsequent development of the Mixed Use Development (MXD) Trip Generation process. Fehr & Peers has 

developed a process, known as the “Ds” of smart growth, which has been defined as key sustainability metrics in 

providing the building blocks for improving mobility for all modes of travel: 

Density – The more compact the development is, the easier it is to promote transit, bicycles, and pedestrian travel 

Diversity – Diversifying land use (e.g. making sure that households have easy and convenient access to retail use, 

schools, and jobs) allows people to reduce the length of their trip; thus reducing vehicle emissions and promoting 

walking, biking, and transit use 



 
Scope and Fee for Fitzsimons Innovation Community 2023 Master Plan  
February 9, 2024 

 
2 

Design – Pleasant and safe biking/walking environments, short block lengths, landscaping and other design 

components that promote alternative modes of travel 

Destinations (or regional accessibility) – Being located near a regional activity center promotes shorter trips and 

make alternative modes of travel more attractive 

Distance to Transit – Locating land use in close proximity to transit promotes transit use and reduces the need to 

drive to your destination 

Demographics – Providing supportive land use and affordability for a wide range of life styles and income ranges 

afford the ability for people to live in close proximity to where they work and play 

Development Scale – Larger areas that are well planned and are connected together reduce trip making behavior 

compared to smaller (isolated) developments 

Demand Management – Encourages people to manage the demand on the roadway system by promoting 

alternatives modes of travel 

The Ds process was developed by Fehr & Peers to account for Vehicle Trip Reductions and associated reductions in 

Vehicle Miles of Travel associated with the variables described above. We have implemented our Ds process into a 

variety of travel demand forecasting applications throughout the country.  The MXD model looks at a series of D 

variables and utilizes those to account for vehicle trip reductions for project-specific application. The MXD 

reductions are based on surveys at 239 sites throughout the United States, and provides for a much more defensible 

process for trip reductions from mixed-use sites. The trip reductions process using MXD and typical ITE internal 

capture trip reductions can vary with MXD process resulting in minor to more impactful trip reductions. During the 

process we will also calculate standard ITE trip generation with internal capture reductions and use the method 

producing a larger defensible trip reduction rate. 

While this methodology has been accepted by clients across the country including City and County of Denver, we 

will be prepared to use standard trip generation methodology should the City of Aurora not accept the MXD+ 

methodology. Our team will meet with the City of Aurora to select the preferred trip generation methodology. 

Deliverable: Trip Generation Methodology and Calculations Memorandum 

Task 3: Future Total Traffic Volumes 

Total future traffic volumes are the sum of the background traffic and the site generated traffic. This analysis will 

determine the impact of the proposed development on the study intersections and project accesses. Improvements 

will be recommended, as necessary. The intersection analysis build upon the 2023 Master Traffic Impact Study and 

will include Level of Service, traffic control, lane assignment, and vehicle queuing. Up to 55 intersections will be 

included in the analysis. 

Deliverable: Total Future Traffic Volumes Maps and Tables 



 
Scope and Fee for Fitzsimons Innovation Community 2023 Master Plan  

April 1, 2024 

 
3 

Task 4: Parking 

Fehr & Peers will evaluate overall parking demand of proposed parking demand and recommend parking 

improvements to support the new land uses. This will include evaluation of on-street and off-street parking 

recommendations. 

Deliverable: Parking capacity recommendations calculations 

Task 5: Report Preparation 

The report will document the findings of the analysis and provide recommendations in a DRAFT Mobility Study for 

two rounds of review. Upon receipt of comments, a Final Mobility Study will be completed and a response to 

comments letter compiled.  

Deliverable: DRAFT1, DRAFT2, and FINAL Mobility Study 

 

  



 
Scope and Fee for Fitzsimons Innovation Community 2023 Master Plan  
February 9, 2024 

 
4 

Additional Services 

Optional Task 1: Complete Streets Improvements and New 
Roadways 

Fehr & Peers will incorporate a comprehensive complete streets approach toward roadway and multimodal 

recommendations. The complete streets concept recognizes that transportation corridors have multiple users with 

different abilities and mode preferences. Adjacent land use influences the functionality and character of the street 

environment, and a well-integrated street system considers the complementary relationship between land use, local 

and regional travel needs, and the context that it serves. Complete streets consider a range of users, including 

children, the disabled, and seniors. 

Fehr & Peers will conduct an analysis of the proposed pedestrian crossings within the development. The pedestrian 

crossing improvement analysis will be based on City of Aurora’s design standards. The analysis will inform the 

appropriate crossing treatment (signs, crosswalk markings, bulb out, rectangular rapid flashing beacon, pedestrian 

hybrid beach, etc.). 

We will evaluate traffic calming design techniques into recommendations including roundabouts, speed humps, 

chicanes, etc.  We integrate our extensive knowledge of planning and operations to provide clients with the ideal 

combination of creative, yet practical solutions that address the needs of all travel modes.  

Deliverable: Complete Streets and traffic calming recommendations memorandum 

Optional Task 2: Shuttle and Microtransit Recommendation 

Fehr & Peers will develop and evaluate transit improvements to connect with current light rail stations and future 

Bus Rapid Transit on East Colfax Avenue. This will include evaluation of the current shuttle route , development of 

alternative circulator routing, and on-demand transit service configurations that could serve future development 

and increase overall transit connectivity throughout the site.  Additional analysis and development of alternatives 

can be conducted as an additional service.  

This task will advance the initial shuttle and microtransit feasibility assessment from Task 4. The evaluation will 

define possible microtransit zone models (zone, zone to point, incorporation of time points, etc.) and associated 

service parameters. These will consider parameters such as desired trip response time, maximum walking distance, 

associated performance characteristics (less wait time vs. more shared trips), and fleet implications. The likely trip 

patterns of the area configurations will be modeled according to planned and existing land uses. 

Deliverable: Memorandum documenting existing shuttle route evaluation and ideas for improvement  as well as 

alternative circulator routing maps and operational considerations 



 
Scope and Fee for Fitzsimons Innovation Community 2023 Master Plan  

April 1, 2024 

 
5 

Schedule and Cost 
Estimate 
Base Services 

We have staff available to begin work immediately and can discuss a reasonable schedule for completion of the 

above tasks upon execution of this contract. Our fee for the base scope of work outlined above is $97,780.  

Task 0: Project Management & Meetings $29,820 

Task 1: Future Background Traffic Volumes $4,920 

Task 2: Proposed Project Conditions $17,720 

Task 3: Future Total Traffic Volumes $12,160 

Task 4: Parking $13,520 

Task 5: Report Preparation $19,140 

Travel (mileage, parking) $500 

Total Fee $97,780 

 

Additional Services 

Optional Task 1: Complete Streets Improvements and New 

Roadways 
$7,400 

Optional Task 2: Shuttle and Microtransit Feasibility and 

Recommendations 
$14,880 

Additional traffic data collection (if identified as a need and 

not included in previous traffic study) 
$10,000 

 

 


	April 2024 Board Agenda.pdf
	January 2024 Meeting Minutes.pdf
	2023 Audit Final Governance Communication unlocked.pdf
	2023 Audit Final signed.pdf
	2023 Audit TOC.pdf
	2023 Audit Transmittal Letter.pdf
	2023 Audit Final Auditors' Opinion.pdf
	2023 Audit Financial Statements body.pdf

	2024 Q1 Fin Stats.pdf
	DRAFT Amended and Restated FRA ESTABLISHING IGA v3.pdf
	DRAFT AMENDED BYLAWS v3.pdf
	DRB Contact List April 2024.pdf
	Tryba packet.pdf
	Resolution for Additional Tryba Consultant Funding Item #10.pdf
	Tryba email with addl consultants.pdf
	FIC Master Plan Phase 2_Matrix Engineering_Scope and Fee_240412.pdf
	FIC Master Plan Phase 2_Fehr and Peers_Scope and Fee_240401.pdf
	Scope of Work
	Task 0: Project Management & Meetings
	Task 1: Future Background Traffic Volumes
	Task 2: Proposed Project Conditions
	Task 3: Future Total Traffic Volumes
	Task 4: Parking
	Task 5: Report Preparation
	Additional Services
	Optional Task 1: Complete Streets Improvements and New Roadways
	Optional Task 2: Shuttle and Microtransit Recommendation

	Schedule and Cost Estimate
	Base Services
	Additional Services






